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PART ONE: PRE-CONTACT TO 1941

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

From the time it was purchased by the Sinclair family nearly 115 years
ago, the island of Ni'ihau has remained in relative obscurity compared to the
rest of the Hawaiian Islands. Each of the major islands in the archipelago
has been the subject of extensive research which has resulted in a better and
widespread understanding about them. Ni'ihau is the exception.

Owners of Ni'ihau, past and present, so guarded their possession from
intruders and curiosity seekers that only fragmented reports about the island
and its residents escaped from its protected shores. While factual data were
contained in many of them, there were equally as many accounts, both written
and verbal, that consisted on half-truths, speculation and outright
fabrication. Yet, because there is a thirst for information when little
exists about fascinating subjects, many myths and rumors about Ni'ihau became
rooted in time. So many people believed them that they became erroneously
accepted as documented evidence about the island, its inhabitants, and its
owners.

The purposes of this thesis are threefold. No comprehensive history of
Ni'ihau has ever been written. This work is intended to fill that void. It

synthesizes information from various sources and describes Ni'ihau from its




bubbling volcanic emergence from the sea millions of years ago to its
present—day problems as a struggling cattle and sheep ranch.

There was no choice but to treat some areas in a seemingly superficial or
shallow manner due only to the paucity of information about them. To achieve
the goé] of historical comprehensiveness, it was necessary, therefore, to
review as much about the island as was written or could be recollected by
informants in whatever format it was presented. This ranged from private
letters by early missionaries assigned to the Waimea Mission on Kaua'i which
summarized the success of proselyting efforts on Ni'ihau to recent newspaper
articles describing the effect of Hurricane Iwa on the island and its
residents.

The second purpose of this work is an attempt to dispel some of ﬁhe rumors
and myths that have developed about the island over the past century.
Critical to this objective was the search for original sources. Since these
are extremely scarce, it was necessary sometimes to rely on the sheer volume
of secondary source data as a badge of authenticity about an event. Whaf is
contained in the following pages I believe to be information as factually
accurate as determinable under circumstances.

The third purpose of this work focuses on the owners of Ni'ihau. So much
about this tiny island is unknown or misunderstood that it is éxtreme]y
difficult to isolate a singularly dominant misperception. If pressed,
however, the motive of the owners in maintaining the strict seclusivity of
Ni'ihau seems to be the most recurrent mystery.

Many feel that with the sale of the island in the mid-nineteenth century,
Ni'ihau moved from one monarchy to another. With the private ownership of the

island secured in the hands of first the Sinclair and now the Robinson




families, Ni'ihau was and still is virtually shut off from the rest of the
world. For this, the owners have been much maligned and criticized. They are
frequently accused of being tyrants whose only motives are self-serving, that
is, they mustkmaintain a tight hold on the residents to ensure a work force
for the ranch and thereby maintain what is left of the island's economic
viability. Unquestionably, the truth to this accusation lies solely in the
heart and mind of each individual who contemplates it. No single explanation
can be found in letters, diaries, books, articles, or even interviews. This
thesis, however, presents the argument that the owners have been motivated by
humanistic concerns. The history of this dry, non-fertile island is replete
with acts of generosity by the owners toward the residents. What becomes
readily apparent is that the owners have never needed Ni'ihau to be profitable
to ensure their own financial success, Other ventures, primarily sugar, kept
"the family" econbmical]y secure. Ni'ihau has been an economic liability to
every generation of owners, yet they tenaciously protect as much today as they
did a century ago, the residents' individual and collective right to choose
their own Tifestyle. This historical account vividly portrays how the
Sinclairs and their descendanfs have resistéd attempted takeovers of the
island by entrepreneurs, the Territory and the State of Hawai'i, and Mother
Nature herself when it would have been so easy to set it adrift.

The difficulty in obtaining information about Ni'ihau is not only limited
to the written record. Most present and former residents, as well as official
visitors (of which there are few), are very reluctant to divulge much about
their experiences. While many will say nothing at all, there are some who are
valuable sources of information who will discuss Ni'ihau if their anonymity is

protected. In deference to their request, many sources herein are referred




to anonymously in order that their story may be told. In most cases, the root
cause for their reticence is fear of owner retribution. There seems to be a
great concern among many that should the owners become aware of their
"disloyalty," future visits will be denied. A spokesperson for the owners
categorically denies that the family would rescind the visitation privileges
of someone solely based on that person speaking publicly about Ni'ihau. There
are others, however, who'refuse to relate what they know about Ni'ihau in
deference to the people who live there. In essence, they feel would be
violating the rights of the Ni'ihauans if they contributed to making things
public that heretofore were not. Whatever the reason, many who can speak
authoritatively about Ni'ihau do not.

In the past, the owners have permitted scientific research to be conducted
on the is]énd. provided the scientists' motives were honorable and bonafide.
Botanists and archaeologists have spent time on Ni'ihau collecting data that
contribute to the scientific understanding of the archipelago. Many have
published their findings and these were used in the preparation of this work.
When I inquired as to the possibility of visiting the island, my request was
politely, yet firmly, denied cfting "insufficient reason."

Part One of this thesis is a description of the geo]ogy; climate, and
general ecological condition of the island, and a chronological history from
pre-contact to World War II. Hardly a nation in the world escaped the War's
impact and, in the end, world order was virtually restructured. So great was
the impact of World War II on the Pacific, that many writers use this period
as a departure point to explain the modern development of the islands. This

thesis follows suit.




Part Two addresses the profound and perennial social, economic, and
political issues that surfaced in the wake of World War II. Some were direct
outgrowths of the War, for example, the influence of soldiers stationed on
Ni'ihau. Others were indirect, such as the effect of a 1946 Territorial
Senate visit to and investigation of Ni'ihau. This investigation did more to
focus the public eye on Ni'ihau than any previous event. Its findings and
recommendations resulted in some major changes to the island's lifestyle.
These changes cannot be simply classified as improvements because there are
many people who feel any tampering with the island, its people or culture is
wrong.

While what is considered essentially germane to the historical intent of
this thesis is explained in the body of the work, the reader is encouraged to
refer to the notes at the end of each chapter, and the appendices. Both
contain interesting features, anecdotes, and general information about Ni'ihau
that most certainly will add to one's understanding of the place and the
people. |

A1l Hawaiian words are as cited in the Hawaiian Dictionary compiled by

Mary Kawena Pukui and Samuel H. Elbert.
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CHAPTER II

GENERAL SETTING

Geography

More than 130 islands, islets, and atolls comprise the Hawaiian
archipelago, some of which are no larger than a volcanic rock protruding above
the surface of the ocean. Seven of the larger land masses are inhabited by
nearly a million people (Census Information 1980), and to six of these flocked
more than four million visitors in 1983.

To the northwest of the major islands are the lesser—known ones of the
archipelago, sometimes called the Leeward Islands. Interestingly named places
such as French Frigate Shoals, Gardner Pinnacles, La Perouse Rocks, Kure
Islands, Pearl and Hermes Reef, and other small parcels span more than a
thousand miles of ocean and are home to birds, sea turtles, and the Hawaiian
Monk seal.

The stepping stone between the major islands and those in the northwest
is, aptly enough, Ni'ihau. Aptly because in addition to its geographical
position of being the last bastion of civilization before one encounters the
desolation of the remote Leeward Islands, Ni'ihau's population-to-land ratio
of three-people-per-square-mile eases one out of the burgeoning masses of the
major islands into the wilderness of the Shoals, Pinnacles and Reefs.

In stark contrast to the lush, tropical splendor and paradisiacal
allurement of Kaua'i, 0'ahu, Moloka'i, Lana'i, and Hawai'i, Ni'ihau is dry,
barren, and off limits to tourists or, for that matter, anyone who is not a

resident.
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Ni'ihau is located about eighteen miles southwest of Kaua'i. The two
jslands are separated by the Kaulakahi Channel which becomes extremely
dangerous during the winter months. The distance between Ni'ihau and Honolulu

is about 110 miles,

Geology

Ni'ihau's origin, like that of its sister islands, is volcanic.!
Predominantly flat, with more than 78 percent of its seventy-three square
miles less than five hundred feet above sea level, Ni'ihau's mean altitude is
530 feet. Only three of its forty-five miles of coastline have cliffs more
than one thousand feet high. Its highest point, Pani'au, is 1,281 feet (State
of Hawaii Data Book 1979:123).

Ni'ihau is considered to be one of the oldest islands in the archipelago -
(Hinds 1930:50). Its age is estimated to be five or six million years. MWhile
its vo]éanic origin is undisputed, geologists, volcanologists, and other
scientists generally disagree on whether Ni'ihau and Kaua'i were formed from
the same volcanic eruption. Below the surface of the Kaulakahi Channel, the
two islands are Tinked at a depth of about 2,500 feet. However, opinions
differ as to whether they were visibly connected above the water.

J. D. Dana suggested that at one time Ni'ihau was the northwestern edge of
Kaua'i, but, due to faulting, it shifted laterally from a position adjacent to
the famed Na Pali cliffs (MacDonald and Abbott 1970:398). However, as
generally agreed by other geologists such as Hinds (1930:50-53) and Stearns
(1947:7), the structure of Ni'ihau (direction of the lava flows, dikes, and so

forth) disproves Dana's hypothesis.




The predominant theory is that two separate volcanic eruptions, totally
independent from that which formed Kaua'i, formed Ni'ihau. The Highlands in
the northeastern portion of the island are believed to be remnants of an
ancient, dome-shaped shield volcano of the Pani'ai series,2 while the Tow,
broad plains of the southwest, west and north were formed by the Ki'eki'e
volcanic series,3 probably of the Pleistocene era. Nine vents of the Ki'eki'e
series are visible above sea level (MacDonald and Abbott 1970:399). These

... small, cliffed residuals, which were islands in the
pre-emergence sea, project above the general level of the
plain. The most conspicuous of these is a flat-topped
eminence, called Kawaewae, one mile southeast of Nonopapa.
The top of this residual now stands 290 feet above sea
level (Hinds 1930:95).

At the southern tip of the island is the highest of these elevated terrain
features of the plains area. It is called Kawaihoa Point and is 548 feet high
(Ibid.). It is estimated that more than two-thirds of this cinder cone has
been destroyed by wave erosion (Ibid. 96).

About one mile north of Ni'ihau is Lehua Island.4 While Ni'ihau was
formed independently of Kaua'i, evidence suggests that Lehua Island's volcanic

eruption did contribute to Ni'ihau's emergence by depositing tons of

wind-blown ash to help form the island's northern coastal p]ain.5

Climate
Climatic conditions on Ni'ihau are vastly different from those of the
other inhabited Hawaiian Islands. Subtropical and semiarid, the island is
extremely dry with an annual rainfall totalling only twenty to twenty-five
inches. In sharp contrast, only thirty miles north is Mount Wai'ale'ale on
Kaua'i, purportedly the "wettest spot on earth" with an annual rainfall of

nearly five hundred inches!




The moisture carried by the prevailing tradewinds is drained as the
breezes creep over the Kaua'i mountain range putting Ni'ihau in a "rain
shadow." The island experiences frequent and, at times, severe droughts that
either dry up the few waterholes completely or reduce them to a bitterly
brackish level.

From the years when explorers, whalers and traders first made the Hawaiian
Islands a business and recreation stop, ships' logs and captains' journals
contain numerous descriptions about the lack of adequate rainfall on Ni'ihau.
During a stop there on March 14, 1792, the surgeon and naturalist aboard
Captain George Vancouver's expedition of 1792-94 reported:

Having inquired (from some natives) for some fresh water,
they showed us a place in the rocks, where a little oozed
out by the drops, and the careful manner in which it was
collected convinced us it was a scarce article on this end
of the island (Menzies 1920:40).

Owing to his short stay on Ni'ihau, Vancouver's surgeon localized the
water shortage when, in fact, it was endemic to the entire island.6 However,
he wrote further that

Though we here and there met with little natural tanks in
the rocks which were carefully shaded over with stones to
preserve the water that fell in them in rainy weather, ...
these were at this time either drained up or their contents
not drinkable, so that for quenching our thirst we were
chiefly indebted to some watermelons we obtained from the
natives (Ibid. 41).

The frequent droughts produced famines which, at times, caused residents
of Ni'ihau to leave (Waimea Station Report 1833:2). Vancouver, on May 29,
1793, consented to the wishes of two Ni'ihauans he had on board to land them

at Kaua'i rather than their home island, because of the severe drought ongoing

at the time (Menzies 1920:130).
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The Timited rainfall of Niihau gave the Niihauans incentive
to search for ways and means of conserving moisture in the
soil. (They solved this problem) by the use of mulch. Pili
grass, used for building and thatching huts, was also one
of the means of conserving moisture, by adding humus to the
soil during the process of decomposition (Gay 1982:43).

Menzies also cites the resourcefulness of the Ni'ihauans in this regard
when he describes how he saw sweet potatoes covered by grass "to preserve the
little moisture of the soil being fnha]ed by the sun's powerful heat" (Menzies
1920:41).

«+. naulu (sudden) showers that ... are caused by clouds

that form off the leeward coasts and then move inland,

dropping their moisture apparently as a result of local

convection currents. They fall during times when neither

the northeasterly tradewinds nor southerly winds blow, and

they are reported to occur chiefly in the afternoon during

hot weather (Stearns 1947:31).
The island will always have a domestic water problem because of aridity,
unfavorable geological structures, continuous deposition of salt spray, and
abundant authigenic salts in the lake beds (Ibid. 3).

Man's most basic physical need and what the Hawaiians consider as the
greatest blessing—good water—is what Ni'ihau lacks in sufficient quantity.
This has and will continue to have a profound effect on the lifestyle of the

Ni'ihauans.
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NOTES

Hawaiian folklore claims that Pele, the unpredictable Goddess of Fire,
first took up residence in the Hawaiian Islands on Ni'ihau before moving
and finally settling on the Big Island of Hawai'i.

The caldera of this volcano was located about two miles east of the
present cliffs, well onto the channel (Stearns 1947:7). Volcanic matter
that comprise these highlands include both 'a'a (rough, jagged) and
pahoehoe (smooth) lava types (Stearns 1966:209). Marine abrasion and
downfaulting eventually eroded the western edge of the caldera, leaving
the near vertical cliffs. Based on Ni'ihau's present size and shape,
coupled with the findings and hypotheses of past geological studies, the
island is believed to have been much larger than it is today, perhaps as
big as eighteen miles long, ten miles wide and more than three thousand
feet high. Its dimensions probably were similarly to those of Lana'i
(Hinds 1930:93).

The plains are comprised mainly of pahoehoe lava (MacDonald and Abbott
1970:398).

Lehua Island is a tuff-cone crater 700 feet high and only one mile long.
Its width is only one-half mile. It bears resemblance to the famed
Diamond Head when viewed from certain angles.

During Lehua Island's volcanic formation, sea water entered its vents and
caused violent eruptions, many of which are thought to have occurred
during the high winds. As a result, ash from Lehua's eruptions are found
up to eight miles inland on Ni'ihau's northern plains (Stearns 1947:7).

Although Ni'ihau has been plagued with chronic water problems, it is,
ironically, home to the largest lake in the State. The lake is called
Halali'i. It measures 841 acres (State of Hawaii Data Book 1979:9). The
lake is located in the south-central portion of the island and named for
one of the previous owners of the parcel of land it sits on. Of course,
the lake is only filled during the heaviest of rainfalls which, on
Ni'ihau, are rare, at best.




12

CHAPTER III

PRE- AND EARLY WESTERN CONTACT

Pre-Contact

The Ni'ihauans, as well as all Hawaiians, are descendants of the daring
Polynesians who navigated from the Marquesas and Society Island groups in the
time periods 300-500 AD and 1000-1200 AD, respectively. It is generally
accepted, much to the dismay of Thor Heyerdahl, that the origin of all peoples
of the Pacific is the southern part of the present day China and Southeast
Asia,

Fornander (1878 Vol. I:2) posited that the Polynesian ancestors migrated
from the Asian continent, but he went a step further by saying that these
ancestors were "connected by kindred, commerce or by conquest with lands
beyond, in Hindustan, the shores of the Persian Gulf, and even in Southern
Arabia" (Ibid. 3). In support of his theory, Fornander made an interesting
direct reference to Ni'ihau. In attempting to tie the language of Polynesian
dialects to that of the Malayans and thereby show an identification of the
Hawaiian Islands with those of the present Indonesia and Malaysia regions, he
said that Ni'ihau corresponds with "Lifas, a place on the island of Timor"

(Ibid. 9).

Re~Discovery
Although the discovery of the Hawaiian Islands is technically and

rightfully attributed to the Polynesians, it is to the brilliant British
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scientific reporter, Captain James Cook, that westerners have historically
‘given that title of "discoverer" of the archipelago. He achieved this
recognition because when he set foot in the islands on January 18, 1778, he
was believed to have been the first Caucasian to see or land in Hawai'i.

Cook first sighted 0'ahu, but winds forced him westward toward Kaua'i. He
stepped ashore there and was hailed by the natives as the returning Hawaiian
god Lono. Shortly thereafter, while trying to shift the position of his ship
in Waimea Bay, anchorage was lost and he could not return to Kaua'i due to
high winds and rough surf. Still interested to see what the rest of the newly
discovered islands were 1ike, Captain Cook, who also sighted "Oneehow" during
his initial approach to the chain, headed for it.

On January 30th, Cook sent an advance party to Ni'ihau "to trade with the
natives for refreshments" and find a suitable place to anchor. Cook's
instructions were for his men to return to the ship immediately and not spend
the night. Once there, however, wind and surf conditions prevented the men
from following his orders. They were "stranded" on Ni'ihau for two days and
gained another opportunity "to improve their intercourse with the natives"
(Captain Cook's ... 1906:334).

On February 1, 1778, Cook himself came ashore at Keanahaki Bay (Gay
1981:17). He stayed only one day during which he was again venerated as a
deity and escorted on a quick but interesting tour of the island. What he saw
he described this way:

The ground through which I passed was in a state of nature,
very stony, and the soil seemed poor. It was, however,

covered with shrubs and plants, some of which perfumed the
air with a more delicious fragrance than I had met with at
any of the other islands in this area. The habitations of
the natives were thinly scattered about and it was supposed

that there could be more than five hundred people upon the
island. Our people had an opportunity of observing the
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method of living amongst the natives, and it appeared to be
decent and cleanly. They did not, however, see any
instance of the men and women eating together, and the
latter seemed generally associated in companies by
themselves. It was found that ... as at Otaheite ... they
baked their hogs in ?vgns. A particular veneration seemed
to be paid to owls, 1) which they have very tame; and it
was observed to be a pretty gen?rgl practice amongst them
to pull out one of their teeth, 2) for which odd custom,
when asked the reason, the only answer that could be got
was, that it was eteeha (Captain Cook's ... 1906:335).

Such was Cook's account of his first and only encounter with Ni'ihau and the
Ni'ihauans.

As tokens of his appreciation, Cook left with the Ni'ihauans a "ram goat
and two ewes, a boar and sow-pig of the English breed, and the seeds of
melons, pumpkins and onions" (Ibid. 334). 3 His men, however, left something
far less hospitable—venereal disease!

Only eleven months later Cook was in the islands again,
this time at the other end of the chain. He was mortified
to find that the bad seed of venereal disease had travelled
the 225 miles from Ni'ihau to Maui ahead of him (Daws
1963:49).

While Cook did his best to prevent his men from infecting the natives, the
task proved too much for even the revered "Lono."

He was a man of broad sympathies, and he did not want to be
responsible for spreading disease. It hurt him to think he
had failed in his hopes so many times in the Pacific. He
failed again at Niihau (Ibid. 6-7).

As he did throughout his voyages in the Pacific, Cook and his team of
scientists discovered, chartered, sketched and studies Hawai'i and its
inhabitants, including Ni'ihau. Subsequent to his visit in 1778, the islands

rapidly became a popular rest and replenishment stop for military and

commercial ships transiting the Pacific.
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Yam Bay

With its limited rainfall, Ni'ihau's crop production was miniscule
compared with the other Hawaiian Islands, excepting Kaho'olawe. Among the
types that were grown in limited amounts were sugar cane, breadfruit and sweet
potatoes.

The real sweet potato ('uala) of Ni'ihau was the subject of some
interesting stories. One such account tells of a giant plant growing near
Kawaihoa. Mrs. Pukui translated a story from the newspaper Ku'oko'a
(March 29, 1868) about this plant.

The bark ... is rough like that of a tree ... The plant
grows narrower in the middle, above this narrow part, it is
smooth. Below the narrow part are two bid roots, and they
are again divided into six roots that bear good sized
potatoes like real paha, those of Lana'i and Ni'ihau give
to it a different name, the kupaha.

The paha is eaten in times of famine, it is baked in the
oven and eaten. It tastes delicious when picked at the
right stage, but when old it is no good, and it acts on the
bowels just as epsom salts do (Handy and Handy 1972:148).

The sugar cane of Ni'ihau was grown in very limited quantities and only in
the vicinity of Lake Halali'i. It, like the breadfruit, was said to grow
quite peculiarly on Ni'ihau, that is horizontally in the sand" (Ibid. 434).
One of the many famous sayings used by the Hawaiians to describe the island
was "Ni'ihau of the burrowing sugar cane of Halali'i" (Ibid. 188). The cane
was said to grow prone with only its leaves protruding from the sand. Also,
one report claims there was an unusual variety of pineapple growing on the
island.>

British fur traders were among the first to steer toward Ni'ihau "when the
rigors of winter and fear of scurvy drove them from the shelter of Nootka

Sound" (Damon 1932 Vol. 1:228). Merchant and whaling ships usually called at

Ni'ihau as their last stop. Sailors were lured to this lowly island by two
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major things: sex and food. Once their passions were satisfied, the holds of
their ships were filled. However, it was not with sugar cane, breadfruit or
sweet potatoes with which they stocked, but rather the only staple grown in
great quantity on the island—yams!

Ni'ih&u once produced large, good tasting yams. Preferred over sweet
potatoes because they keep much longer at sea, yams put Ni'ihau on the
navigational charts of many a ship's captain. Although Ni'ihau's terrain is
barren and relatively inhospitable, yams were "planted presumably in the large
pockets of elevated coral at the southeast of the island, the bottoms of which
are said to be filled with vegetable mold" (Handy and Handy 1972:434).
Although Captain Cook claimed that the yams were poor in nutrients, they were
of the size and quantity that seamen would trade vigorously to obtain. The
Ni'ihauans, in return, obtained what they wanted in iron, cloth and firearms.
So heralded was the island for its yams, that

... one indentation on the coast ... was called 'Yam Bay'
by Captain George Dixon who visited the island on June 18,
1786, and twice again the following year. His purpose was
mainly to secure a supply of yams which he asserted 'will
keep for anytime' (Judd 1932:6-7).

On his first visit, Captain Dixon claimed that the yams were "in plentiful
supply (and were) purchased for nails and such like trifles" (Dixon 1789:54).
He took about eight tons and his fellow sea captain, N. Portlock, who stopped
there about the same times, took ten tons (Portlock 1789:86).

One year later, Portlock returned to again fill the holds of his ship but,
surprisingly, did not find many yams at all. He recorded it this way:

.+« since the stock we before carried from the islands,
they (the Ni'ihauans) have neglected cultivating the land.
Indeed, (this) information agreed with my own observations
while on shore; for I gg]ked over a great deal of land

lying entirely waste. ( It appeared to me that a number
of the natives that formerly inhabited the island have
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quitted it to reside in Atoui (Kaua'i) ... probably the
iron which they purchased from us formerly enabled them to
purchase possessions in Atoui ... (Ibid. 198).

The trading of eighteen tons of yams only a year earlier could well have
been the major cause of why Portlock found such a meager supply on his return
trip. Portlock's speculation about Ni'ihauans moving to Kaua'i is surely in
error, but it could be that there was a population decline because of
introduced diseases.

The shortage of yams appears to have lasted for at least a decade.
Broughton landed at Ni'ihau on July 28, 1796, for supplies, specifically
yams. He spent four days there and found, much like Portlock seven years
earlier, a short supply (Broughton 1804:74). What he did find was famine and
drought, thereby suggesting the reason for no yams.

The dearth of yams experienced by Portlock, Broughton and others, however,
was not permanent. Rather, in later years, the Ni'ihau yam still acted as a
magnet to ships visiting or commercializing in the Hawaiian Islands. F.
Beechey Tanded at Ni'ihau on June 1, 1826 (Beechey 1831:234). He recorded
that he was "disappointed in the expected supplies (of yams); not from their
scarcity but in consequence of the indolence of the natives" (Ibid.). This
indolence of the Ni'ihauans about which Beechey reports was probably due to
the fact that prior to embarking for Ni'ihau for his provisions, he was
requfred " ... to make a bargain with the authorities at Woahoo (0'ahu) for
what might be required, who in that case sent an agent to see the agreement
strictly fulfilled" (Ibid.). With the Ni'ihauans conveniently eliminated from
the trading negotiations because of these off-island agents, why then should
they show the enthusiasm that characterized their turn-of-the-century

bartering ventures when they controlled the trading? In deference to the
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quality and supply of yams at that time, Beechey described them as "very
excellent and of an enormous size" (Ibid.).

William E1lis, too, verifies the availability of yams as noted in his
Journal of 1827:

The natives of these islands are also distinguished for the
cultivation of yam, which grows very large, both on Tauai
(Kaua'i) and Niihau, and contributes essentially to the
support of the inhabitants. As they are not cultivated to
any extent in the other islands, many ships are induced to
visit there, principally for the purpose of securing a
supply; they are not only an excellent root, but will keep
a long time at sea without deterioration (E11is 1963:15).

Eventually, the yam trade dissipated on Ni'ihau. This can be attributed
to a shift in emphasis as to why ships visited the Islands. Once Kaua'i's
forests were stripped of sandalwood, more and more ships focused primarily on
the better—equipped taverns, the better-staffed brothels and the overall
"action" of 0'ahu and Maui. With Honolulu rapidly developing as the center of
business activity, provisions were also more easily obtained there then
trekking to Kaua'i, let alone facing the treacherous anchorages at Ni'ihau.

Mr. Aylmer Robinson, former owner and manager of the Ni'ihau Ranch,
commented that, while he remembered yams being grown on the island at the turn
of the century, in later years "the frequent droughts coupled with the spread
of the koa shrub in their gardens made quick results in their plantings more
important and the cultivation of yams was abandoned ... " (Judd 1938:9).

When the question of Ni'ihau's yams was put to a spokesperson for the
Robinson family recently, it was indicated that strains of the plant can still
be found on Kaua'i. The informant verified that they were as big as early
Ni'ihau accounts claimed. The opinion was also offered that the yams are

"horrible tasting." While the yams may not appeal to people today, the

captains of sailing vessels in the past valued them because they could be

e e
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stored for long periods of time and, with the exception of the late 1790s,

they were available in great quantity.

Developing Relations with the West

During the decade subsequent to Cook's visit, relations between visiting
sailors and the Ni'ihauans were amicable, notwithstanding some petty
thievery. George Dixon recorded that many of his men who became sick at sea
in 1786 recuperated well when he put in at Ni'ihau. They found "great benefit
from the land air, as they could walk about at their ease without being
molested by the inhabitants" (Dixon 1789:54). Méares, on his visit to Ni'ihau
on October 25, 1788, echoes Dixon's statements about the friendliness of the
inhabitants:

On arriving off this island we did not experience the
operations of any prohibitions against us; on the contrary,
we were surrounded by a crowd of natives, among who were
many of our old friends, whom we perfectly recollected, so
that the ship was very shortly filled with visitors of all
ages and both sexes (Meares 1921:255).

But as the invasion of‘the IsTands by foreign ships increased, so did the
demands by each side during the bartering procedures. High on the Tist of the
Hawaiian chiefs were firearms. It was no different on Kaua'i and Ni'ihau.
They dfd whatever was necessary to acquire these powerfully destructive
devices. The acquisition process was sometimes accomplished in a
business-1ike manner through trading, and, at other times, by outright
stealing. Concepts and strategies of war among tﬁe island chiefs were
drastically altered by the use of guns; so was their attitude towards

westerners. They began feeling not so inferior. Higher demands, shorter

supplies, and both sides having firearms resulted in increased tensions during
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trading. No more were the Hawaiians to be the pawns. They began to assert
themselves.

Using the same guns acquired from the haole, the Hawaiians began attacking
visiting foreign ships. These attacks continued for nearly twenty years. It
was not until 1796 that natives ceased harassing the ships (or at least did it
with much more selectivity). One of the last known attacks was conducted by
Ni'ihauans on the ship Providence (Kuykendahl and Day 1961:35). The incident
occurred during the previously mentioned Broughton visit to Ni'ihau in July
1796. With both Ni'ihauans and mariners apparently frustrated due to the lack
of yams, tempers were short. When a Ni'ihauan said he himself could not
obtain a good supply of yams but required a working party, Broughton
dispatched his first mate, a botanist, two Marines and a small back-up crew to
. remain embarked on the boat should there be trouble ashore. Shooting was
heard and the ship's party bid a hasty retreat to their landing craft. During
the ensuing fight between the sailors and the Ni'ihauans, both Marines were
killed, one stabbed with his own bayonet and the other drowned after being
knocked unconscious in the water (Broughton 1804:78). Their bodies were
stripped naked but recovered by the crew members.

Before departing Kaua'i to demand retribution from the King there,
Broughton decided that the Ni'ihauans were in need of a stern "lesson." He
detailed a contingent of Marines to go ashore and "burn every house, canoe and
plantation within a mile from the beach where the boats were ... " (Ibid.

76). Broughton recorded in his journal the killing of the Marines "as
unprovoked as any" incident that occurred in the Islands (Ibid. 77).
While firearms intrigued the ali'i, the less—destructive, simple

implements such as nails, cloth and mirrors made impressions on the commoners
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who scurried aboard vessels to be the first to trade for them. During his
first visit to Ni'ihau, Cook recorded:
Six or seven canoes had come off to us before we anchored,
bringing some small pigs and potatoes, and a good many yams
and mats. The people ... seemed to be very well acquainted
with the use of iron, which they asked for by the names of
Hamaite and toe, parting readily with all their
comoditites for pieces of this precious metal (Captain
Cook's ... 1906:334).

In the above quote, reference is made to Ni'ihau mats. They were one of
three skillfully crafted Ni'ihauan items, gourds7 and shell leis being the
other two, that were sought by visiting ships as well as by other Hawaiians.
The fine-textured mats were the most valued, and chiefs throughout Hawai'i
often demanded them. Only shell leis, however, have withstood the test of
times, and they are described in Part Two and in Appendix L. For description
of the mats, see Appendix A.

Not long after Cook's visit, Ni'ihauans began to experience the world
beyond their island shores. Some voluntarily did so; others were kidnapped.
In the latter case, Laheina and Kaimalo, were "taken away in the Jenny from
Ni'ihau, without either their consent or that of their parents or relatives"
(Menzies 1920:132). The two were kidnapped while the British sloop was
anchored off Ni'ihau about 1790. They were kept for ten months as the Jenny
sailed the coast of North America. The two washed dishes in the ship's galley
and visited North American Indian tribes and Spaniards in California.

The Ni'ihauan women were eventually transferred to Captain Vancouver's
ship, Discovery, in 1793. There they became quite i11 and it is said their
sickness was owed to their longing "for their former vegetable food,

particularly poi-taro and yams" (Ibid. 13). Whether their illness was

actually caused by a lack of home cooking or the merciless pitching and




22

rolling of the ship, "they recovered their strength and vigor remarkably
quick" when Vancouver returned them to the islands May 1793 (Ibid.). They
were the two Ni'ihauans mentioned earlier who opted to land at Kaua'i rather
than Ni'ihau which was experiencing a harsh drought and famine at the time.
Both were obviously well aware of the miserable hardship the Ni'ihauans were
undergoing at the hands of Mother Nature and decided to avoid it at least for
the time being.

On Kaua'i, they were considered "by far the richest" of people in the
islands, for in their possessions were articles

.s. such as knives, scissors, looking glasses, beads,
buttons, earrings, needles, tapes, nails, axes, fish hooks,
pieces of iron, files, rasps and a variety of other tools,
besides great quantities of different clothes and
ornamental articles (Ibid. 130).

Virtually every article of "worth" was coveted be one and all, including
chiefs. Vancouver, however, issued an ultimatum to the ali'i that if the
women's presents were taken or they themselves were abused, he would
personally deal with the perpetrators in his return the following year. That
being the case, one of the village chiefs promptly proposed to the oldest girl
(Ibid. 131).

Even before the adventures of Laheina and Kaimalo, a Ni'ihauan was taken

aboard the sloop Princess Royal by its commanding officer, Mr. Charles Duncan

in 1788. The young man was used to help navigate around the islands and did
this for six months. Menzies records his name as "Kukeekeekane" (Ibid. 17).
This young Ni'ihauan voluntarily remained aboard after his six-months tour of
duty. He and another Hawaiian from Moloka'i were brought to England and are

reputed to be Britain's first Hawaiian visitors.
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Prior to 1800 there is only one other Ni'ihauan who was recorded by name
in journals of ship captains visiting the Hawaiian Islands. Known as "Ku" in
Menzies' account, the Ni'ihauan was said to have been the point of contact for
business transactions during Vancouver's stop there on March 14, 1792 (Ibid.
40). He is described as one "whose authority over the natives and obliging
disposition (were), on so many occasions, found extremely useful” in the
bartering sessions (Ibid.).

Before Vancouver's stop, Meares cites in his journals what seems to be the

same individual but accords him the more literary name of "Friday." His

rather lengthy account is quoted in full for to do otherwise would risk losing
some of the flavor that makes this story so interesting and gives Friday such
character:

... among several who expressed their joy to see us, and
who retained the remembrance of our kindness to them, was
that affectionate islander to whom some of our officers
have formerly given the well known, and I may add,
honorable appellation of 'Friday'; and if any of the
companions of my former voyage should peruse this page,
they, I am sure, will recollect with somewhat of a grateful
remembrance, the friendly and faithful services of honest
Friday. Those services he now repeated; indeed, on the
first sight of the ship, he swam off to make an offer to
them, and they proved of the utmost importance to us.

We had at this time neither bread nor flour on board, and
depended on procuring a quantity of yams sufficient to
supply our wants during the remainder of the voyage. But
as this was not the season for them, and they were too
young to be dug up, we should have found it a matter of
great difficulty to have obtained a sufficient quantity, if
our friend Friday had not undertaken the important
negotiation. We therefore provided him with such articles
as were the most likely to forward our purposes; and, by
his influence and perseverance, assisted with the bribes in
his possession, he persuaded many of his friends to dig up
the largest yams they could find, and bring them to market;
so that we at length obtained several tons of these most
necessary provisions ... I am really at a loss how to
describe the very marked concern, both in words and Tlooks,
that the inhabitants of the island expressed, when they
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were informed of our approaching departure. Friday,
however, remained to the last, and with him I entrusted a
letter to Captain Douglas, with the strictest injunction to
deliver it into his own hands, whenever he should arrive;
which commission he readily undertook, and faithfully
performed ... I presented that good fellow with such
articles as I well knew would afford him the satisfaction
he deserved; when after securing them in his maro (malo)
which is a cloth that these people wear around their
middle, he plunged into the sea; and as he swam towards the
shore, from time to time, turned his head toward us, and
waived one hand, while he buffeted the billows with the
other (Meares 1921:143).

Ni'ihau's Ties with Kaua'i
While there is no evidence to substantiate the theory that there was a
land bridge between Ni'ihau and Kaua'i, Ni'ihau has, out of necessity, always
maintained a close social, economic and political relationship with its
closest neighbor island.

Late in the eighteenth century—toward the end of the
pre-white period of Hawaiian history—there were four main
political divisions in the islands. Kauai formed one of
these, along with Niihau, which alternated between modified
independence and subjection to its more populous neighbor
(Daws 1963:49).

Further to this relationship, Fornander conjectures that before Kamehameha
the Great silenced independent island monarchies and united the Hawaiian
Islands, that

... the island of Niihau bore about the same political
relation to the Moi (king) of Kauai as the island of Lanai
to the Moi of Maui—independent at times, acknowledging his
suzerainty at others. No historical event connected with
Niihau during this period has been preserved, nor any
genealogy of its chiefs. Springing from and ultimately
connected with the Kauai chiefs, there was a community of
interests and political adhesion which, however strained at
times by internal troubles, never made default as against
external foes (Fornander 1878 Vol. 11:94-5).

There were times in the past, however, when Ni'ihau's ties with Kaua'i may

not have been as close as one may be led to believe. When Kamehameha the
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Great launched his island-unifying campaign in the 1Ate 1790s, the King of
Kaua'i and Ni'ihau was Kaumuali'i. Refusing to acquiesce to Kamehameha's
demands of subjection, Kaumuali'i incurred the wrath of the greatest of all
Hawaiian warriors and rulers. It is conjectured that the Ni'ihauans, having
not much of anything, including defenses, and being a somewhat peaceful Tot,
may have opted for another approach to the problem since Hawai'i, Maui,
Moloka'i, Lana'i and 0'ahu were already part of Kamehameha's domain. The
future of Kaua'i and Ni'ihau was inevitable, so it seemed. However, as mighty
as Kamehameha's army and fleet were, he was thwarted twice in his attempts to
subdue Kaumuali'i and add these last two pearls to the string he had already
amassed. A violent storm sank half his ships and war canoes on one occasion,
and disease decimated his army on énother. Ni'ihau and Kaua'i were spared, at
least for a while. |

In 1810, however, Kaumuali'i relented, albeit with great bitterness and
reluctance. He peacefully accepted Kamehameha's authority and the Hawaiians

were finally united under one ruler.

A Brush with the Russians

As early as 1804, Russian ships were visiting the Sandwich Isles but they
had not established any settlements or any major business houses there. In
1815, however, a Doctor Georg Anton Scheffer of the Alaskan-based
Russian-American Company was dispatched to Hawai'i. His mission was to
retrieve the cargo of a Russian ship that sank near kaua'i. Failing that,
orders from Mother Russia were to get compensation from Kaumuali'i. He was
also to attempt to secure sandalwood rights and trading privileges in the

islands for the Russians.
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The instructions were quite clear, and they had precise
limits, but once (Scheffer) reached Hawaii he was seized by
that peculiar vision of realms and islands which was to
seduce a long line of political fanatics in the Pacific
during the nineteenth century (Daws 1974:51).

Scheffer's misdirected ambitions coupled with Kaumuali'i's personal
bitterness toward Kamehameha resulted in a mutual pact between the two. The
deal called for Kaua'i and Ni'ihau to be placed under Russian protection while
Russia was to enjoy a sandalwood monopoly on Kaua'i. Forts were built at
Hanalei and Waimea. Place names on Kaua'i were changed to Russian and talks
of attacking Kamehameha (with the split of his islands as the prize) were
conducted by the two collaborators.

Once again, Ni'ihau was being dragged into an arena it may have chosen to
avoid if it were independent. Since Scheffer had concluded these agreements
without the approval of the Czar, he received no Russian government support,
and his actions were denounced. Eventually he was abandoned by Kaumuali'i and
banished from the islands in humiliation. Ni'ihau was spared violence
(Joesting 1972:58-64).

Kamehameha died in 1819. Kaumuali'i was eventually invited to visit 0'ahu
in 1821 by Kamehameha's son and heir, Liholiho. It was an attempt to obtain
from the High Chief of Kaua'i and Ni'ihau a total commitment of loyalty to the
Hawaiian throne; much more than Kaumuali'i had rendered Kamehameha.

It was politely done, but Kaumualii was a virtual prisoner
of state from then on, and soon he put in another kind of
captivity when Kaahumanu (Kamehemeha's widow) ... married
him. Kaahumanu took Kauai (and Niihau) further into her
keeping by marrying as well one of Kaumualii's sons ...
Kealiiahonoiu (Daws 1974:67).

So by a "triumphant piece of diplomacy," Ni'ihau's position in the realm

was finally legitimized.
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NOTES

While my research could not produce more evidence about Cook's statement
about the homage paid to owls on Ni'ihau, it is interesting to note that
the most prominent point on the eastern shores of the island is named Pueo
Point. Pueo is the Hawaiian word for owl.

With regard to the missing teeth, it is undetermined what the term teeha
means as an explanation for this occurrence. It was common, however, that
upon the death of a chief, his loyal subjects mourned by inflicting upon
themselves minor mutilations. Among these was the removal of teeth.

The goats were the cause of more trouble than they were seemingly worth.
Not only had their ravenous appetite caused problems during much of the
nineteenth century on Ni'ihau by destroying most of the vegetation, but it
was also reported that when left as gifts by Cook, two cousins, who were
chiefs on Kaua'i, fought for the supremacy of Ni'ihau in 1779 ostensibly
for the goat ownership (Fornander 1878 Vol. 11:227).

Confirmation of this story about the Ni'ihau 'ulu that resembled a sweet
potato is found in a translation by Mrs. Pukui from the newspaper

Ku'oko'a, April 1, 1868:

I will tell you of that famous potato of Niihau called
"Na-Kiwi-a-Holei." I have seen and handled it. It is of
the height of a salmon barrel from the ground to the top.
Its bark is thick like that of an old kukui tree; the new
tubers have skin like ... arrowroot; the leaves are like
those of kowali and the blossoms resemble those of kowali.

The correct name (of this plant) is the paha and I have
heard that it is common on the hills of north Kona,
Hawaii. The natives there call it the ... ulu kupua. She
described it as having leaves and fruit like the
breadfruit, but as being nonedible. Mrs. (Mary Kawena)
Pukui says that Niihau meles (chants or songs) mention na
ulu nee i ka papa the breadfruit that creeps on the rocks
..« it grows only on Niihau (Handy and Handy 1972:152).

Hawai'i is noted for its pineapple production. While each island,
particularly Lana'i, grows them, Ni'ihau once shared in this glory and
may, in fact, have had some of the best. An account in the Pacific and
Commercial Advertiser of August 3, 1867, by an anonymous author who was

aboard the ship Nettie which was delivering lumber to the owners of the
island (the SincTairs) for making additions to their ranch documented this:

We wandered up the inclined plain, towards the mountain
ridge in the northeast, and came to many natural
plantations of pineapples. They grew everywhere over the
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island spontaneously, and with no other cultivation than
that of nature; they are the juiciest and best-flavored of
any in the tropics.

Whether the Ni'ihau pineapples were specimens at which the major pineapple
corporations of today would marvel is speculative. However, the fact that
arid Ni'ihau could sustain the growth of a great quantity of pineapples
seemingly substantiated by Mr. Charles Gay, son of Captain and Mrs. (Jane)
Thomas Gay, and grandson of Eliza Sinclair, matriarch of the Sinclair
family. In describing them to his son, Lawrence, Mr. Gay claimed that the
pineapples grew at the end of a stalk twenty to twenty-five feet away from
where it was originally planted. Mr. Gay is reputed to have brought some
slips to Waimea, Kaua'i and planted them along a picket fence near his
home. The plants bore fruit in about eighteen months but were described
by Mr. Gay as being smaller than to what they were accustomed at the

time. The original pineapples were allegedly brought to Ni'ihau from the
Marquesas Islands in 1850 (Gay 1981:62).

The fact that land lies fallow in Hawai'i is in itself unusual:

... shortly after the early migration, the island (Ni'ihau)
was divided into several ahupua'a, each ruled by a high
chief, usually a close relative of the King of Kauai.

These chiefs made further subdivisions of land to chiefs of
lower rank and the commoners.

A11 tenants were required to make their land productive in
order to support the populace, because the rulers were very
much against idle land (Gay 1981:43).

The gourds or "Ni'ihau calabashes" were water containers that were prized
for the unique staining method used by the Ni'ihauans to decorate them in
intricate geometric motifs (Handy and Handy 1972:434).
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CHAPTER 1V

CHRISTIANITY COMES TO NI'IHAU

Whitney and the Congregationalists

On March 30, 1820, Christianity came to the Hawaiian Islands with
missionaries that arrived from Boston aboard the brig Thaddeus. They sailed
via Cape Horn, a journey of five months and eighteen thousand miles.

Kamehameha the Great was dead only six months yet a major upheaval had
taken place regarding the religious practices and beliefs of the Hawaiians.
As somewhat of a forerunner to women's liberation, the widow of Kamehameha and
then regent of the island kingdom, Ka'ahumanu, led the revolt against many of
the old kapu or ancient taboos. When the kapu-breakers were not immediately
punished by the gods, idolatry, as it was practiced then, suffered its most
serious blow and gradually began to wane as a way of religion in the islands.
The void was quickly filled by the recently arrived men of the cloth from
Boston. Little did they realize how much easier Ka'ahumanu had made their
job. However, they soon found out, and opportunistically garnered her under
their collective wing. After she was nursed back to health by Hiram Bingham's
wife from a serious illness, Ka'ahumanu become one of the potent supporters of
the missionaries.

On the board the Thaddeus were a few ordained ministers, lay specialists,
and a few Hawaiians who had been educated at the Foreign Mission School at
Cornwall, Connecticut (Daws 1974:63). Among the specialists were two teachers

by trade, Samuel Ruggles and Samuel Whitney, who were both assigned to the
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Waimea Mission on Kaua'i. Both fell quickly into the favor of Kaumuali'i who
offered them chiefly status. They declined but accepted instead "the use of
some land and the promise of protection" for their mission at Waimea (Ibid.
66).

With the exception of one year (1827-8) when he went to Honolulu, Samuel
Whitney presided at Waimea from 1820-1845 (Missionary Album 1969:198-9). The
religious jurisdiction of the Waimea Mission included Ni'ihau, but the tiny
island was not the focal point of the new religious establishment. In fact,
Ni'ihau, as has been its history, was paid only token appreciation.

The arrivél of the missionaries resulted not only in learning about the
Christian God, but also signified the start of what westerners commonly, and
perhaps arrogantly, term the "civilizing" of the islanders through general
education: reading and writing. The Kaua'i Mission did establish a few
schdo]s on Ni'ihau but could never spare a fu]i—time. qualified
teacher/preacher to take up residence there, To compensate, Whitney appointed
teachers from among the Nf'ihauans who did what they could considering they
knew very little more than those who they weré instructing. It was, however,
a beginning. As more missions on Kaua'i were opened, Whitney was able to |
direct more attention to Ni'ihau. Missionaries from Kaua'i continued to cross
Kaulakahi Channel periodically to tend the Ni'ihau flock as "the want of
canoes prevented Ni'ihau people from attending church and school very
frequently at Waimea ..." (Damon 1932 Vol 1:286).

In Apri1 1829, Whitney inspected the Ni'ihau schools. His report
indicated there were four on the island, providing instruction to thirty-three
males and forty-three females. Of these, Whitney claims forty-four could read

(Ibid. 274). Ten schools were reported on Ni'ihau in 1834, and this number




31

remained fairly stable for the next decade (Whitney 1834:2). Most, however,

were administered rather indifferently by the Protestants (Ibid. 1842:2).

Walsh and the Catholics

While the Congregational missionaries at Waimea were seemingly content in
conducting their religious and secular education responsibilities on Ni'ihau
by proxy, the Catholics, in the early 1840s, seized the initiative and set up
the first permanent religious settlement on the island. The catalyst was a
feisty Irishman named father Robert Walsh who was the first Catholic priest to
come to Kaua'i.

He arrived at Kolea (Kaua'i) in December 1841 and on
Christmas Day of that year recorded in his diary: 'I have
celebrated the first Mass that has ever been celebrated to
my knowledge on the island of Kauai, and founded the
mission of St. Raphael the Archangel' (Ibid. 223).

Throughout the Pacific the competition between Protestants and Catholics
for souls has always been intense. At times, it has reached somewhat violent
and certainly un—christianlike proportions. Ni'ihau was no exception. The
Congregational missionaries watched the Catholics on Ni'ihau gain large
followings of the population, which at that time numbered about one thousand
(see Table I). Reports filed by Whitney substantiate and lament the Catholic
successes:

They have a native teacher, who is said to be very zealous,
and gaining quite a number of converts to the Catholic
faith. It is with weeping eyes that we often look toward

the ruffed clifts (sic) of that Island and ask what can be
done for its wretched inhabitants? (Whitney 1841:2).
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TABLE I

CENSUS DATE FOR NI'IHAU

1832 - 1,047 1860 - 647 1910 - 208
1836 - 993 1866 ~ 325 1920 - 191
1840 - 1,000 1872 - 233 1930 - 191
1847 - 453 1878 - 171 1940 - 182
1849 - 723 1890 - 216 1950 - 222
1850 - 714 1896 - 164 1960 - 254
1853 - 790 1900 ~ 172 1980 - 226

(Schmidt 1977:11 and State of Hawaii
Data Book 1979)

After spending a week on Ni'ihau during October 1842, Whitney reported:
... the prospects of the people on that Island are
exceedingly dark. They are ignorant in the extreme and
almost entirely destitute of the means of instruction. The
catholicks (sic) are rushing in upon them, and leading them
by scores into the delusions of the Man of Sin (Ibid.
1842:1)

In 1843, Whitney conducted six meetings on Ni'ihau. While he reported
that Father Walsh was still gaining converts and still leading children away
from schools administered by the Waimea Mission, he did express delight in the
number of Ni'ihauans clinging to the Congregational belief (Ibid. 1843:1-2).
"Not long after that, zealous Protestants tore down a house which had been
serving as a Catholic chapel (Daws and Head 1963:50).

The crusade for Ni'ihau converts continued until mid-century. Neither
faith could have been conclusively classified as victorious up to that
period. Shortly thereafter, in 1851, the Catholics abandoned their schools on
Ni'ihau (Ibid.) and the fire of that faith among the Ni'ihauans rapidly

subsided. My research could not determine why the Catholics pulled out of

Ni'ihau. Although the zeal of the Protestant missionaries had also waned with
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respect to Ni'ihau, when the Catholics departed it was the remnants of the
Congregational beliefs that survived. One thing for certain, however, is that
the overall impact of the missionaries on the religious convictions of the
Ni'ihauans was far-reaching and today forms the cornerstone of their outlook

on life and the world.
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CHAPTER V

FROM ONE MONARCHY TO ANOTHER

Prelude to the Sale

Prior to 1848, land ownership in Hawai'i was the right of nobility.
Prompted by foreigners, primarily Americans "who needed clear land titles to
secure their investments in the Islands" (Daws and Head 1963:50), and under
the guise that a land redistribution would benefit the Hawaiians, the monarchy
ordered, in 1848, the Great Mahele, or land division. The Crown set aside
certain parcels and then offered what remained for outright purchase by chief
and commoner alike. Foreigners were permitted to buy only under the most
extreme circumstances, but with private ownership on a wide scale, long-term
leases became readily available. It was this land tenure security that
prospective plantation owners required before they would invest. |

The Ni'ihauans quickly voiced their desire to purchase their portion of
paradise. The 'aina (land) has always been important to the Hawaiians, as it
is with most island peoples. When the opportunity to buy land was presented
to the Ni'ihauans, they leapt at the chance. But because their barren land
was not productive enough to secure eventual full payment of the loan they
needed, Ni'ihauans were only authorized a lease agreement with the monarchy.
By 1860, the Ni'ihauans were so far in arrears on their lease payments that
the situation was getting unprofitable for the monarchy (Ibid. 51). The
solution to this dilemma was in New Zealand and about three years in the

future.
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The Sinclairs

At a point midway between Kamehameha's two ill-fated attempts to secure
Ni'ihau and Kaua'i by force, specifically on April 26, 1800, there was born in
Glasgow, Scotland to the McHutchesons a girl whom they named Eliza. In the
same year of Kamehameha's death (1819), this beautiful young woman met, fell
in love with and married a distinguished officer of the Royal Navy, Captain
Francis Sinclair. He is reputed to have saved the life of the Duke of
Wellington in 1815 subsequent to the Battle of Waterloo while escorting the
Duke of England in his frigate-of-war. For his "splendid seamanship," he was
personally rewarded by the "Iron Duke" (Gay 1981:9).

Eliza and Francis resided happily at an estate, Bothwell Hall, in
Stirling, Scotland. From this union came six children. Having heard exciting
stories of the untold opportunities awaiting in New Zealand for the
adventuresome, Eliza persuaded her husband to take advantage of the Crown's
incentives for settlement there. The family departed in October 1839 (von
Holt 1940:7).

‘Captain Sinclair had filed claim for land in New Zealand (North Island)
prior to departing, but exact site selection was to take place upon their
arrival. For more than four months the Sinclairs, along with other Scottish
and English families, sailed the Atlantic, Pacific and Indian Oceans. They
arrived in Wellington in February 1840 about the time New Zealand became a
British colony (Ibid.).

It took three years to sort the land claims as no one in the British
government had fully considered the Maori point of view when it came to
selling their land. The Sinclair family spent this time waiting in

Wellington, having settled near a Maori village. They became acquainted and
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friendly with the Maori even though the North Island natives were reputed to
be a particularly fierce group. How fierce they were became apparent to
Captain Sinclair when he, having his claim finally and clearly identified on
paper, took his family to see what they were considering buying. During the
excursion, he sensed increasing danger as the party moved further inland by
boat. One evening as his family slept on shore, he quickly awakened them and
ushered them to the boat. Minutes later "Literally a torrent of Maori men and
women, all armed with spears and clubs" rushed from over a hill (Gay 1981:11).

Captain Sinclair returned to Wellington witﬁ his family and wisely
exchanged his unseen claim on North Island for another on South Island. The
new acreage he acquired was in Pigeon Bay near Akaroa, Canterbury. They
arrived in April 1843 in a vessel built by the Captain. There, the family won
the confidence of the Maori and eventually carved for themselves out of the
wilderness a beautiful estate which they named "Craigforth" (Ibid. 12).

The Sinclairs fashioned for themselves a prosperous, happy lifestyle
during the next three years. Desiring to purchase more land immediately
adjacent to his property, Captain Sinclair, his eldest son George, and Alfred
Wallace, fiance to his eldest daughter, Jane, set sail for Wellington in
1846. It was the last anyone ever saw of them. 'No trace not even a spar or
sail, or evidence of any kind was ever found of the ship" (von Holt 1940:
14-15).

For the rest of her (Eliza's) long life, she never could
entirely rid her mind of the remorse that she had somehow
been indirectly responsible for the tragic deaths. She had
been the one who so strongly argued to make the move from

their home of Bothwell Hall ... to settle in this exciting
unknown island ... (Menard 1982:49).
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She was left a widow with five children ranging in age from seven to
twenty-three. With help from friends and solace from prayer, she managed the
estate fairly well,

About 1862, (two of her children) Frank (Francis) and
Helen, both of whom were restless and unhappy, began to
urge a departure of the family for wider fields and
opportunities. The land which Captain Sinclair had set out
to buy on his last disastrous voyage had never been
purchased by Mrs. Sinclair (von Holt 1940:23).
The following year a handsome offer was made for Craigforth and the widow

" ... stories of the huge ranchos of the Spanish Dons and their

accepted.
descendents had fired Frank's imagination" (Ibid.) and he persuaded his mother
~ to set sail for British Columbia or California.

Jane had now married Captain Thomas Gay. He set about purchasing a
three-hundred-ton barque called the Bessie. The clan, headed by its now
sixty-three-year-old matriarch, was ready to complete the dream of their
father: to own "an island all their own" (Menard 1982:49).

A11 sorts of supplies were put on board—a cow and hay and
grain for her chickens, five merino sheep, jam and jellies
made at home, quantities of apples from the orchard, also
books, clothing and all the paraphernalia of home, even to
a piano (von Holt 1940:25).

In April 1863, they set sail. Their first stop was Tahiti where Eliza was
appalled by the licentiousness and debauchery of what was then the "queen" of
whaling ports, Pape'ete. This, coupled with the lack of available land and
the heat and humidity, dashed any thoughts she may have had about permanently
residing there. It should be mentioned, however, that the sheer beauty of
Tahiti (outside Pape'ete) and Mo'orea indeed made a favorable impression on
Eliza (Menard 1982:51).

Weighing anchor, they sailed north toward Hawai'i. While they did not

stop there, what Eliza saw from the deck of the Bessie became indelibly etched
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in her mind and would eventually lead her back. Why the widow did not visit
Honolulu is unknown. Some recorded accounts claim the family did stop in the
Hawaiian Islands, but

... Eliza's daughter, Anne, was almost twenty-four years of

age, with lucid impressions of the voyage, wrote only of

seeing the mountains of the Hawaiian group as they sailed

past (Ibid.).

By June 1863, they had made Vancouver, British Columbia. Damp weather,
poor ranching prospects, mosquitoes and the uninviting appearance of the
Indians of North America made for a short stay there.

California was next on their itinerary but before they could set sail, a
Mr. Henry Rhodes of the Hudson Bay Company advised them to return to Hawai'i
instead. He claimed the rains in California at that time of the year would
make it difficult to take the long trip over the mesas to see the ranch lands
there" (von Holt 1940:29). Acting on his advice, her own recollection of the
beauty of Hawai'i, and a letter of reference Rhodes wrote for the family to be

presented to his brother Godfrey in Honolulu, Eliza decided to return to the
Sandwich Isles (Ibid.).2

The Sale of Ni'ihau
The Bessie arrived in Honolulu harbor on September 17, 1863. Kauikeaouli
was king (Kamehameha IV). At the dock to greet the Sinclairs was the Reverend
Samuel Chenery Damon who arranged for a temporary home for them in Honolulu.
Damon's memoirs report:
On going down to the wharf I came aboard a fine vessel with
a beautiful and brilliant old lady at its head, books,
pictures ... and all that could add refinement to a

floating house about them; and cattle and sheep of valuable
breed in pens on deck (Menard 1982:52).
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Word quickly spread that people of substance had arrived with an eye
toward staying. With that,

Honolulu society heartily welcomed the newcomers
eminently respectable and wealthy as they appeared ... The
Sinclairs were very receptive to Honolulu hospitality and
even more to island real estate prospects. They were in
the market for land (Daws and Head 1963:51).

The sequence of events that led up to the actual sale of Ni'ihau to Eliza
was recorded by her daughter, Anne, and are as follows:

In looking about for ranches that would suit us ... it was
difficult to find what we wanted, as a law, 'The Great
Mahele' had recently been passed by the Hawaiian
Legislature enabling the natives to take up Tittle land
holdings wherever they liked. Such nembers of these had
been taken up all over the islands that it was well nigh
impossible to find a large enough tract for our purposes.
The holdings are called kuleanas and though they broke up
the large ranchlands, no reasonable person could object to
this law, as it was a fine thing for the natives.

After some months of looking, during which we were offered
Kahuku on northern Oahu by Mr. Wyllie, Ford Island in Pearl
Harbor by Dr. Ford, and the adjoining lands of Honouliuli
and Ewa, all of which could have been bought for a song and
which James Campbell bought in 1877, we gave up and decided
to leave for California. When King Kamehameha (IV) heard
of this he told us that if we would stay in Hawaii he would
sell us a whole island, having a population of about three
hundred natives. After my brothers (Francis and James) had
investigated the place they were so enthusiastic that we
accepted the King's offer, and for $10,000 we bought the
island of Niihau off the coast of Kauai (Ibid. 31).

Ten thousand do]lars was the price upon which all parties had finally
agreed. James and Francis had initially offered six thousand but the King's
cabinet, after considering it, countered with the ten~thousand-dollar price
tag for fee-simple purchase, or a lease of $750 per year (Daws and Head
1963:81).

While the offer was made in the name of King Kamehameha IV, he died during

the negotiations. His successor, Lot (Kamehameha V), who came to power in
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December 1863, honored the original offer. This has been a source of
confusion as some historical accounts of the purchase of Ni'ihau accord it to
Kamehameha IV and others to Kamehameha V, when actually both were involved.
Thus on January 23, 1864, the following was entered into the records of

the Hawaiian monarchy:

Kamehameha V, by the grace of God, King of the Hawaiian

Islands, by this, His Royal patent, makes known unto all

men that he has, for himself and his successors, in the

office this day granted and given absolutely in fee simple

unto James McHutcheson Sinclair and Francis Sinclair as

tenants in common, for the consideration of $10,000 ...

into the royal exchequer ... (Dougherty 1930:193).
Then followed a physical description of Ni'ihau. So, for about twenty-two
cents an acre, the Sinclairs became owners of Ni'ihau with the "warm
appreciation of Foreign Minister Wyllie, who expressed his satisfaction at

seeing people of such substance settle in Hawaii" (Daws and Head 1963:81).

Everybody seemed pleased.3
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NOTES
1. As part of the Great Mahele,

The king gave up his rights to all lands of the kingdom,
except for certain estates which in time became known as
the crown Tands, reserved for the reigning monarch. The
chiefs were given a chance to take out fee simple titles to
land they had previously held in fief or as retainers of
the king. Commoners were allowed to buy small lots, or
kuleanas, in fee simple. Chiefs and commoners alike had to
have their lands surveyed and pay a commutation fee in
order to perfect their titles. For the most part chiefs
paid their fees in land, and this became government or
public land. Aliens were allowed to lease land for as long
as fifty years, and in 1850 legislation was passed allowing
them to purchase property on the same terms as subjects of
the kingdom (Daws 1974:126).

2. A stop in California, however, seems to have been made before depart1ng
for Hawai'i. This supposition is based on two items. First, Eliza's
daughter, Anne, recorded in her notes after arriving in Hawai'i the
following:

Though land in California was so cheap we knew that that
“country was not yet in a settled condition, while here in
Hawaii we were at home in a pleasant life and a settled

community (von Holt 1940:31).

Secondly, a copy of the passenger list of the Be551e when it arrived in
Honolulu indicated its point of departure as "Port Angeles, U.S.A." (Gay
1981:14). Assuming that the Port Angeles referred to here is the present
day Los Angeles, the Sinclairs most certainly made a stop in California.

3. One account of the land negotiations between the Sinclairs and the
Hawaiian government says:

The King offered land on Oahu stretching from the present
site of City Hall to Diamond Head for $10,000 in gold, but
Mrs. Sinclair and her sons didn't care for this land
because it was not suitable for ranching.

Most of Waikiki in those days was under water (Gay
1981:16-17).

If this is true, the Sinclairs probably refused what was to become the
most expensive piece of real estate in Hawai'i.
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CHAPTER VI

A DYNASTY IS FORMED

The Final Piece

Unbeknownst to the Sinclairs at the time of the Ni'ihau purchase wa$ the
fact that a few sections of land on the island were already sold to other
individuals as part of the Great Mahele. The monarchy had apparently, or
conveniently, forgot to mention this in its haste to conclude the deal with
the Sinclairs. The new owners were left to resolve the difficulty and did so,
with the exception of one fifty-acre parcel. The Hawaiian who owned this land
was named Papapa. He "retained his lot for fifteen years while the sinclairs
developed their 46,000-acre holding around him" (Daws and Head 1963:81).

One of the Sinclairs' nearest neighbors after they moved to Ni'ihau was a
wealthy young man named Valdemar Knudsen. His well-established and prospering
estate was on Kaua'i. He came to the immediate aid of the Sinclairs and
"proved a most helpful friend, giving (theme) needed advice and interpreting
for (them) to the natives" (von Holt 1940:31). He became more than just a
friend after he married Anne, Eliza's youngest daughter. It was to Valdemar
that Eliza turned when her efforts to entice Papapa to sell continually failed.

A shrewd businessman, Knudsen shelved the idea of trying to "talk" the
Hawaiian into selling. Instead, his method was more direct. When they met,
Knudsen dumped onto the table one thousand dollars in silver coins and
promised the man and his wife security on the island for the rest of their

lives.] It is believed that the sight of the money, not so much as the
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promise of security, turned the deal (Daws and Armitage 1941:33). The

Sinclairs finally owned the entire island.

A Ranch is Born

The nerve center of island operations was to be the Sinclairs' estate at
Ki'eki'e. The site was personally selected by Eliza on the bluffs overlooking
the western shoreline, a few miles from and midway between Nonopapa to the
south (a main landing site) and the Village of Pu'uwai to the north where most
of the Hawaiians lived (Franck 1937:314).

From Boston were shipped prefabricated sections of the new house which was

... a twenty-room, ranch-style mansion, bordered by wide
verandas, passageways, servants' quarters, barns for
splendid Arabian horses and sheds for elegant carriages
(Menard 1982:52).

Shortly after the house was built, Eliza's beloved son-in-law, Thomas Gay
(Jane's husband), to whom was entrusted virtually all of the sailing
responsibilities on the family's trans-Pacific trek, died in 1865.

Captain Gay took the Bessie back to Honolulu and on
south to Australia, there to sell the vessel. After
consummating the sale in Sydney he unfortunately contracted
pneumonia and died, never seeing his youngest child, Alice,
who was born on Niihau on March 17, 1865 (von Holt
1940: 32-33).

Having now secured their dream, the work of attempting to build it into a
profitable venture commenced. Undoubtedly, the Sinclairs knew that Mother
Nature was not as kind to Ni'ihau as she was to other islands in the
archipelago. Just how harsh the conditions were on the island became clear to
them quickly. Erosion caused by the perennial lack of sufficient rain and the

eating habits of the unrestricted herds of descendants from the goats Captain

Cook left in 1778 made agriculture on any great scale a virtual impossibility.
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While the island was dry and unforested, it did offer prospects for
ranching. So with their few cattle and prized Merino sheep, the Sinclairs
established the Ni'ihau Ranch Company. While they realized ranching
operations would not be easy because of the water shortage, Ni'ihau did offer

.+« One great advantage. Elsewhere in Hawaii the
ubiquitous dogs of the Polynesians were a menace to sheep
and cattle; on Ni'ihau, bounded by coastline rather than a
fence, this problem was quickly mastered (Daws and Head
1963:81).

Formally establishing the Ranch Company was simple but making it
financially solvent would be a more challenging task. In the beginning,
however, the Sinclairs remained undaunted and their spirit positive. After
all, they had succeeded in New Zealand against what they considered more
formidable odds than Hawai'i.

Through the latter half of the 1860s, the Sinclairs laid the groundwork of
their ranching operations. Much of the responsibility fell on the shoulders
of Eliza's sons, Francis and James. Cattle and sheep increased in numbers.
Beef, mutton and wool became the ranch's financial lifeblood. Through it all,
however, the cruel heat and dryness of the island made the work tremendously
difficult, and the matter of solving the water-shortage problem became one of
increasing urgency.

.+« @ Honolulu experiment was tried in the form of drilling
an artesian well, the first on Kauai and the first anywhere
in the islands to be used for irrigation. It succeeded
beyond expectations, and with these satisfactory results
the Sinclairs were eager to have (such an operation) in the
island of Niihau, but it was never felt wise to pursue the
project, since the supply of underground water on so small
an is]gnd is, at best, problematical (Damon 1932 Vol.
11:776).

Although the Honolulu experiment remained untried on Ni'ihau, the owners

did attempt to tap, or at least test, the ground-water resources of the
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island. The government of Hawai'i even assisted. In 1883, in response to
Francis Sinclair's request for financial assistance, the Minister of Interior,
J. E. Bush, agreed that the Hawaiian monarchy would subsidize the boring of
wells on Ni'ihau but its share was not to exceed $5,000 (Bush 1883:227).
Well digging on Ni'ihau met with limited success.
Borings into rocks of the lowlands have yielded small
quantities of fresh water, but the flow soon became more or
less saline because of the penetration of ocean water
through the cavernous and porous rocks once the head of
fresh water had been drawn off (Hinds 1930:91).
Well digging was all but discontinued on Ni'ihau. Reservoirs and
Tivestock waterholes too were not very successful. The smaller waterholes
near the northeastern highlands were fed by intermittent runoff, sporadic

springs and infrequent rainfall. In anykcaSEy few of them provided sufficient

potable water (Stearns 1947:31).

Death of the Matriarch

It would be only expected that during the periods of drought, the widow
Sinclair would look toward Kaua'i, only eighteen miles across the channel, and
see the verdant hills and pasturelands soaking up the cool, refreshing rain
that Ni'ihau rarely experienced. Perhaps it was this that occasioned her
purchase, in the 1870s, of a great swath of rich plantation land on Kaua'i's
southwestern side, near Makaweli and Hanapepe. Or, perhaps, it was the
thought that the Ni'ihau Ranch would never be the financial success for which
she had hoped and therefore decided to hedge in order to provide for the
family's future. Maybe she feared her grandchildren and their children
required more direct access to better schools and religious education.

Possibly she had a premonition that her own health would someday necessitate
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her leaving the hot, dusty Ni'ihau plains even though a visitor to Ni'ihau in
1875 described her in these words:

A lady of the old Scotch type, very talented, bright
humorous, charming, with a definite character which
impresses its force upon everybody; beautiful in her old
age, disdaining that servile conformity to prevailing
fashion which makes many old people at once ugly and
contemptible; speaking English with a slight old fashioned,
refined Scottish accent, which gives naivete to everything
she says; up to the latest novelty in theology and
politics; devoted to her children and grandchildren, the
life of the family and though upwards of seventy, the first
to rise, and the last to retire in the house ... she rides
on horseback, in a large, drawn, silk bonnet, which she
rarely lays aside, as light in figure and steps as a young
girl ... (Menard 1982:82).

For whatever reason, Eliza's purchase of the Kaua'i land proved to be a
wise decision because in the late 1880s her health failed and her family
relocated her to a magnificent estate in Makaweli. The acreage she purchased
also became the cornerstone of a lucrative family sugar plantation that still
- flourishes today.2

While the move to Kaua'i improved her condition to some degree, the end
came early in the last decade of the nineteenth century.

Mrs. Sinclair was a most remarkable woman, of Scotch birth,
and possessed of an active business mind, which enabled her
to be the ruling spirit and manager of her large property.
She always enjoyed remarkably good health in her mountain
home in Makaweli. A few weeks since she had an attack of
grip from which she recovered, but it left her so weak and
helpless that she felt it was of no use to make any effort
to recover and prolong 1ife in such a helpless condition.
Then calling her grandchildren and friends to her bedside,
she bade an affectionate farewell to each, closed her eyes
and expired at the age of 93 years, with apparently no
pain, but with a bright hope of eternal glory in the spirit
land (Friend 1892:82).

Such was the written eulogy to the matriarch of the Sinclair family who
died in 1892. She had outlived her husband and four of her six children.
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Surviving her were the two youngest: Francis. then living in Alameda,
California, and Anne (Knudsen) in Honolulu (Honolulu Gazette 1892:3).

Eliza did all in her power to maintain the "Hawaiian flavor" of Ni'ihau,

even in the face of the modernization occurring on other islands.
She was very kind and he]bfu] to the Hawaiians. She spent
many hours nursing the sick and providing them with food
and other necessities. The Hawaiians loved and respected
her. She had always told her family that she wanted
Ni'ihau to be kept in the true Hawaiian way of life (Gay
1981:17).

It was her desire to protect those who chose Ni'ihau as their home from
the horrors the haole brought to the other islands: disease, mixed blood,
greed, and so on. There seems to be no question that she would have Tiked to
see Ni'ihau prosper financially as the Sinclairs were astute business people.
While she did not see the Ni'ihau Ranch become a financial success, she did
lay the foundation for the attitude of her descendants: love Ni'ihau and its

" people; protect them!
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NOTES

When Ni'ihau was sold in 1863 to the Sinclairs, many Ni'ihauans left the
island. Although their lifestyle was not dramatically altered with the
change in ownership, those who desired to own land on Ni'ihau in fee saw
their fate sealed. This caused deep resentment between some islanders and
the new owners, yet future generations of Hawaiians would be thankful for
the way things eventually turned out. A migration, however, did occur and
the population was more than halved between 1860 and 1866 as Ni'ihauans
headed for greener pastures.

An interesting sidelight to the land purchases made by the family in
Hawai'i was that in 1902 Eliza's daughter, Jane, purchased the island of
Lana'i at auction and gave it to her son, Charles (Gay 1981:5). He, in
turn, kept it for twenty years and then sold it to the Dole Pineapple
Company. in 1926 (Ibid. 3). So, for a period of two decades, the
Sinclair-Robinson-Gay clan owned outright two of the eight inhabited
islands of the Hawaiian archipelago, and much of a third, Kaua'il
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CHAPTER VII

OWNERSHIP CHANGES

Aubrey Robinson Inherits Ni'ihau
Ni'ihau Ranch operations had been entrusted for some time before Eliza's
| death to the kind and capable hands of her grandchild, Aubrey. Born in New
| Zealand, he was brought to Hawai'i on the Bessie at the age of ten. As a
result of the deaths of some of the direct heirs of the widow, as well as
personal choices by other survivors not to accept responsibility for Ni'ihau ,
Aubrey became the sole owner of the island, as well as many of the family's
holdings on Kaua'i. It was he and his cousin Francis who formed the Gay and
Robinson Company on Kaua'i and, with Sir William Renny Watson of Scotland,
also formed the Hawai'i Sugar Company (Hawaiian Gazette 1892:4).

Aubrey was the son of Charles Barrington Robinson and Helen Sinclair. He
~ was a well-educated man who had received a law degree from Boston University.
Before returning to Hawai'i to assume the management chores of Ni'ihau, he
traveled quite extensively throughout the world.

In the tradition of his family, Aubrey was a good businessman and became a
power in the cattle and sugar industries, particularly on Kaua'i (Frank
1937:315). He, like his grandmother, was extremely protective of Ni'ihau and
wanted nothing more than to permit the residents to live in peace and
contentment in whatever manner they desired. Always in the back of his mind,

however was the goal to make the Ni'ihau Ranch Company a profitable business.
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He tenaciously upheld the precepts laid down by his grandmother,
particularly that of not permitting visitors to the island. Mney, influence
nor political power mattered then, nor does it now, in trying to get to
Ni'ihau. A firm but polite "no" was always the response to the curious.

Under Aubrey's guiding hand many new rehabilitative and conservation
projects were started on Ni'ihau . To make the island more livable and to
concurrently improve its financial prospects, he initiated massive irrigation
works and reforestation programs there, as well as at Makaweli.

He attempted to diversify the ecology of Ni'ihau. He imported purebred
Arabian Horses in 1884, as well as exotic gamebirds and honey bees. He was
the first to import tea from Ceylon (now Sri Lanka). Possibly as important as
all, however, were his tree-importation and —planting measures which included
new varieties of tropical flowering as well as fruit trees from India, China,
and Mexico such as pear, mango, sapote, and star apple.

Aubrey's efforts had visible effects as described by C.S. Judd who first
visited the island in 1897 and returned more than three decades later. Judd
indicated that,

After an interval of 32 years ... I was deeply impressed
with the thrift of the tree growth not only on the rolling
coastal plain but also on the cliffs where the Kiawe trees
have been fostered and are growing up abundantly 1in the
.«ss verdant pili grass. A tree nursery is maintained at
the (Robinson) Kiekie homestead where about 60,000 trees
are raised annually. These are grown in bamboo joints and
carried up the highlands where they are set out at the rate
of 60 plants per man per day (Judd 1932:5)

The reforestation project was successful due to the eradication of the
goats on Ni'ihau in the late 1800s. Their seemingly insatiable appetites

denuded the landscape which resulted in widespread erosion and loss of

valuable topsoil. Until these descendants of the billy and two nannies
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Captain Cook so graciously left behind in 1788 were gone, or their propagation
controlled, extensive plant growth had little chance on Ni'ihau.

During his visit in 1897, Judd participated in a goat hunt which he
described as follows:

The task of exterminating them was not easy and I saw the
work in 1897 when it was still at its height. During the
one week of daily drives in which I participated about 700
goats were captured. We had taken our rifles with us to
shoot stragglers and at the first report of our guns the
timid Hawaiian goat drivers, evidently unused to firearms,
would hide behind the rocks so that we could not know where
they were and for the sake of safety had to desist from
shooting further. The campaign against the goats was
successful at last and the results in increased pasturage
justified the outlay (Judd 1932:8).

Aubrey's tenure on Ni'ihau spanned the time in Hawaiian history when the
islands were transformed from one monarchy under Liliu'okalani (1893) to a
Republic under self-proclaimed President Sanford B. Dole (1894) and eventually
to a Territory of the United States under Governor Dole (1900).

«»« the new territorial government failed to pick up
responsibility for the Niihau as it began to do for the
rest of the islands. As the old Hawaii faded and
disappeared elsewhere, the Robinsons' will (with Aubrey at
the helm) to keep Niihau unchanged grew in strength (Daws
and Head 1963:82).

Aubrey had married his first cousin, Alice Gay, and with her had five
children: Selwynn, Sinclair, Aylmer, Lester and Eleanor. He began to shed
his Ni'ihau Ranch managerial responsibilities about 1920. By 1922, his sons,
Aylmer and Lester, began sharing these. It would be older Aylmer who would
inherit ultimate responsibility.

Aubrey lived until the age of eighty-two. His death in July of 1936
brought eulogies from his contemporaries much the same as his grandmother had
four decades earlier. Newspaper accounts heralded him as "prominent in island
affairs since the monarchy" (SB 1936); "a man who paid his debts and taxes

&
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... @ great patron of church and missionary work" (Daws and Head 1963:82);
and; with obvious reference to Ni'ihau, "known throughout Hawaii for his
preservation of native life of old" (SB 1936).

Aubrey's estate was valued at $3,400,000 (Advertiser 1943b).

Of this, Niihau contributed only $225,000 and its economy
was beginning to show signs of strain which were to become
more pronounced as time went on. Clearly, strong reasons
other than money guided the Robinsons in their defense of
the island against the outside world (Daws and Head
1963:82).

Aylmer, like his father and great-grandmother, loved the island and the
Ni'ihau people. He too was well-educated and had a Harvard degree. He spoke
Hawaiian fluently and pledged to see to it that the Ni'ihauans were permitted
to live a peaceful, tranquil existence, and thereby to preserve as much of the
Hawai'i of old as possible. The latter was to be accomplished by continuing

the ban on visitors to Ni'ihau. He was to manage the island's affairs for

more than forty years.

Governor Judd Visits Ni'ihau

Not very much information is available in public records about Ni'ihau
during the first quarter of the twentieth century. As.menf1oned. when Aubrey
was nearing the age of seventy, Aylmer and Lester assumed the managerial
duties on Ni'ihau. This transfer of responsibilities was of little importance
to the general population of Hawaii and went by virtually unnoticed. An
event, however, that should have captured the attention of most Hawaiian
residents was the first visit ever to Ni'ihau by a Territorial Governor of
Hawai'i, L.M. Judd. This too, however, received little publicity. The reason
was that the visit occurred on October 22, 1929, only 6ne week before the
catastfophic’financ1a1 news of America was trumpeted throughout the
world—Wall Street Collapses!
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The Governor's visit, nevertheless, was recorded for posterity through the
diligence and persistence of Henry Dougherty. Through his enlightening
reports, Hawai'i was kept apprised of the Ni'ihau visit.

Mr. Dougherty was a member of the Governor's official party that departed
Honolulu Harbor on board the lighthouse tender Kukui on October 20th. They
were greeted at Ni'ihau by Aylmer and the only other haole on the island,
foreman John Rennie (ADV 1929). Although a carriage was available, the party
took saddled Arabian steeds from their landing at Ki'i to Pu'uwai.

Dougherty's report was the first to document that pipes from the top of
the cliffs carried water "from the only spring on the island—a tempermental
spring that gushes a fitful stream at fitful intervals—mostly during the
winter season” (SB 1929). His report was also the first documentation that,
while smoking and the sa]é of tobacco was prohibited on Ni'ihau, a few of the
residents did secretly smoke, having acquired the habit off island.

After a cursory look at the school in Pu'uwai, which conducted classes to
the fourth grade and had twenty-nine students enrolled, Judd prepared to
depart Ni'ihau feeling much more contented about the island than before he had
arrived.

While the visit did not receive much play off-island, the Ni'ihauans
unquestionably viewed it as something very special. At the conclusion of the
visit, the Governor led the Ni'ihauans in a chorus of Aloha 'Oe. Not to be

outdone, the Ni'ihauans responded with the Star Spangled Banner to which Judd

remarked "they knew better than the visitors" (Ibid.).
Fifteen months after Aubrey's death, a small article appeared in the

Honolulu Advertiser, datelined "October 1, Summerville, New Jersey." The

article carried a denial by a Mr. James H. R. Cromwell that he was attempting
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to purchase Ni'ihau from the Robinsons. Stating he was only building a
vacation home in Black Point on 0'ahu, Cromwell could not offer any reason how
the Ni'ihau purchase rumor started (ADV 1937). It is mentioned here only
because it was the first publicly recorded reference, fact or fiction, about
someone seemingly interested in purchasing the island from the Robinsons.
Nevertheless, thirty-three years later, claims that businessmen were offering
to buy the island nearly resulted in the State's purchase of it. This will be
discussed in detail later in this work.

By 1940, Ni'ihau was a financial liability for the Robinson family. It
was getting progressively worse each year. The island's contribution to the
multi-million dollar Robinson estate was estimated at only six percent. It

was hardly worth keeping if profit was the only motive.
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NOTES

Irrigation ditches constructed under Aubrey's leadership on Kaua'i were
referred to as some of the "greatest engineering feat(s) ever
accomplished in Hawaii" (SB 1936). An exaggeration, perhaps, but it is
indicative of the esteem in which he was held among his peers and
colleagues.

The party also included: High Sheriff John C. Lane, Colonel L.W. OTliver,

U.S. Marshal Oscar P. Cox, Senator Robert W. Shingle, Senator Charles A.

Rice, Colonel P.M. Smoot, Mr. Willis T. Pope, and Mr. Charles S. Judd.

Iggeego;)the official party had visited Ni'ihau thirty years earlier
1929). '
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PART TWO: 1941 TO PRESENT

CHAPTER VIII

THE INVASION OF NI'IHAU

The Battle of Ni'ihau

Prior to World War II, Aylmer Robinson's attention was focused on trying
to keep the military off Ni'ihau. This greatly disturbed many of the military
brass on 0'ahu who saw a vast chunk of land, presumably suitable for a
sprawling military base and early-warning detection station, remain
untouchable (Daws and Head 1963:82). Ni'ihau's efforts to stay out of "harm's
way" in World War II failed. What eventually happened became known as the
Battle of Ni'ihau and would be a saga that would be told time and again.

There are numerous accounts of the incident.! While most agree about what
generally occurred, the versions differ in details to the degree that the
actual story may never be conclusively known.Z At Appendix B is a rather
lengthy compilation of the Battle of Ni'ihau as derived from numerous written
sources and interviews. A synopsis of the Appendix follows.

While returning from the bombing of Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941, a
Japanese fighter aircraft ran out of fuel before it could locate its carrier.
The pilot crash-landed on Ni'ihau but was only slightly injured. After Hawila
Kaleohano, one of the island's residents, confiscated his official papers and

pistol, the Ni'ihauans took the pilot to Ki'i landing to await the
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weekly Robinson sampan that carried supplies from Kaua'i. Not knowing that
the U.S. military in Hawai'i had banned all unofficial water transport, the
pilot was confined on Ni'ihau for nearly a week.

Two Japanése were living on Ni'ihau at the time and were used as
interpreters. After being held captive for about four days, the pilot cajoled
and coerced one of the Japanese interpreters to assist him in finding his
papers and pistol. Together they removed the machineguns from the disabled
aircraft and began terrorizing the villagers.

As a group of Ni'ihauans frantically rowed across the channel to Kaua'i
for help, the pilot burned houses and peppered the village with macHinegun
fire. One can only imagine the horror the peace-loving Ni'ihauans endured.
The pilot eventually captured Beni Kanahele and his wife, E1la, He threatened
to ki1l them if his papers and pistol were not returned. As the pilot's
patience wore thin, Beni and Ella were in grave danger of becoming the first
casualties of this horrible nightmare. Sensing that any more delay would be
fruitless, Beni seized an opportunity and attacked the pilot who was then
armed with a shotgun stolen from the Robinson's warehouse. Although shot
three times, Beni managed to disarm the pilot. He then Tifted him high above
his head and rammed his skull against a lava-rock wall. Seeing this, the
Japanese interpreter turned the shotgun on himself and committed suicide. By
the time Aylmer Robinson arrived, the incident was over and Beni was taken to
Kaua'i hospital where he recovered from his wounds;

News of the Battle of Ni'ihau first reached the outside world through a
radio broadcast by station KTOH on Kaua'i (ADV 1941a). Even in the aftermath
of the destruction to bases on 0'ahu, the news of the heroism of Beni Kanahele

and Hawila Kaleohano traveled fast through the Territory. Both men were
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decorated by the American Legion and, in June 1943, both received war bonds
from the Hawai'i Civic Club of Hilo (ADV 1943a).3 On August 15, 1945, the
nation remembered Beni's bravery.4 By order of the President of the United
States, he was awarded the Purple Heart and the Medal of Merit (ADV 1957¢).
The U.S. Navy came to Ni'ihau and took away the engine and other

salvageable vital parts from the charred remains of the Japanese plane. After
that, it became a target for souvenir hunters and scavengers.6 As bizarre as
‘the incident was, it will surely live in the hearts of all Ni'ihauans much the

same as Pearl Harbor will in us all.

"Camp Ni'ihau"

Before the people of Ni'ihau could recover from having their island
invaded by the Japanese pilot, a second invasion occurred. This time the
~invaders were members of the federalized National Guard unit, the 299th
Infantry Regiment. With the reluctant permission and assistance of Aylmer
Robinson, the Guardsmen began to visit Ni'ihau in early 1942 to select a site
for a base camp and observation posts.

By June 1942, the first permanent contingent héd arrived on Ni'ihau.
Thirty-one men comprised the unit: twenty-six local boys from Kaua'i and five
haoles. Their mission was to provide security for and early warning to Kaua'i
by manning the observation posts and searching the seas and skies for enemy
surface ships, submarines, and aircraft. These observation posts were
established initially at Ka'we'ewa'e and Po'ooneone. Later, Pueo Point
replaced Po'ooneone because of better visibility of the eastern waters of

Kaua'i (Costa 1982).
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With only a rickety tractor on Ni'ihau before the contingent arrived, the
three jeeps and one three—quarter-ton truck brought by the soldiers were the
first passenger motor vehicles used on the island. One of the soldiers
mounted his personal radio to one of the jeeps and it made a big hit with the
villagers who revelled in being able to Tisten to Hawaiian music from radio
stations on neighbor islands (Amorin 1982).

During the period June 17-24, 1942, David Larentsius Larsen was a guest of
the Robinsons on Ni'ihau. Not much more is known about why he was invited or
who he was. In a letter to his wife in Honolulu, Larsen wrote of life as he
observed it on Ni'ihau. He is quoted frequently in this thesis because his
descriptions are vivid and candid.

Just prior to the time he arrived on island, the Army had begun occupying
the base camp and he was astonished at the extent of the Robinsons' assistance
to the military.

They transport troops and supplies back and forth from
Kauai, furnish camp sites for the soldiers and some
buildings for headquarters; they lend them horses to ride
... and sometimes they send men out to hunt wild pig to
supply fresh pork for the troops. They have plowed deep
furrows over all the flat areas to prevent the landing of
enemy planes. In fact, they had done a lot of these before
the war or the Japanese aviator would have found many safe
places where he could have landed and taken off without
cracking up. This furrowing is on a much larger scale than
anything done by our plantations or pineapple companies,
and they (Robinsons) never bill the Government or make any
charge for their services (Larsen 1942:8-9).

It is suggested that before the War, the "enemy" planes designed to be
thwarted from landing by the furrowed fields also, if not exclusively,
referred to those flown by inquisitive journalists and correspondents whose
only interest in getting to Ni'ihau was a feature story on the Mystery Isle

(see Part Two, Chapter XVI).
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Also, the Robinsons were credited with assisting the war effort through
their beef production. During the years of food shortages and rationing, the
beef raised by the Ni'ihau Ranch was supplying both Army and Hawaiian markets
at greatly less than retail prices (ADV 1943b).

Although Aylmer was willing to assist the war effort, he was unyielding in
the standards of behavior he set for the military while they were on his
island. Among them were no drinking and as little fraternization with the
Ni'ihauans as possible within the limits of cordiality. The soldiers were
permitted access through the village of Pu'uwai in order to get to Nonopapa
landing (Amorin 1982). It was difficult for the soldiers not to associate
freely with the Ni'ihauans because of the latter's characteristic kindness.
"If you passed by the same people ten times a day, they'd shake your hand each
time" (Costa 1982).

Sharing a meal with a local family at their home was permissible, but
under no circumstances was a soldier to remain overnight in the village.

Young women were particularly off limits. Protective mothers, while
hospitable themselves, guarded their daughters from the soldiers. During the
initial period of military occupation, the island women were very cautious and
even discouraged from going to the beach to pick shells. They were very
careful not to put themselves into any questionable situations (Gilman
1943:54). It seems there may have been a great deal of truth in the following

statement that appeared in the Honolulu Advertiser after the war:

Uncle Sam's friendly, gum—chewing GIs have won the favor
with the women of every nation in the world, including
enemy nations, but they haven't even 'dented the surface'
on Ni'ihau (ADV 1946d).
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For the most part, the Robinsons' regulations were observed, but as would
be expected, there were some violations. On occasions, the soldiers managed
to smuggle in some "spirits with their supplies."8 Smoking was not prohibited
for the soldiers, but the Robinsons have traditionally strongly discouraged it
among the Niihauans. They too, however, sneaked it in and the soldiers
contributed to the habit from their Post Exchange purchases.

The Robinsons never restricted the soldiers from hunting pig or fowl, and
when the supply boat from Kaua'i was delayed because of inclement weather,
they did supplement their diet with readily available pheasant, turkey, or
pork. Fish, eel, and 'opihi were also much a part of their menu.

The Army's outposts on Ni'ihau were disbanded in 1944.9 However, the
soldiers' departure did not signal the end of military occupation of Ni'ihau.
Six months before the Army left, a forty-man construction detachment from the
U.S. Coast Guard arrived to erect a Long Range Aid to Navigation (LORAN)
station (Coast Guard ... 1946:61). It was located in the southern part of the
island near the Nonopapa landing, and took more than a year to complete.
Operations commenced in early 1946 (Pikarski 1982). It was staffed by one
officer qnd‘fourteen enlisted men. Like the army, they were instructed by
Aylmer in the standards of conduct and, for the most part, again complied.
Some pastures around the station were transfokﬁed into makeshift baseball
diamonds where friendly interservice competition between the Army and the
Coast Guard provided entertainment for the villagers and helped break the
monotony of duty on Ni'ihau for the servicemen. The military men on Ni'ihau
likened duty there to a short term at Alcatraz (ADV 1946d).

After the War, the Coast Guard station became quite popular with the

Ni'ihauans. As soon as the Robinsons' sampan was out of sight on its way back
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to Kaua'i, they flocked to the station for movies and to drink from the water

fountain, the contents of which were condensed from sea water (Senate Journal
633). Beer, not liquor, was available at the LORAN station but scrupulously
kept from the Ni'ihauans. The young children found it especially enjoyable to
suck ice cubes and eat ice cream (IBID.). The only other refrigeration on
Ni'ihau at the time was at the Robinson ranch house in Ki'eki'e. The
Robinsons were suspicious of the Coast Guardsmen. On one occasion, they
accused them of smuggling some curious Ni'ihauans to Kaua'i to watch movies
and shop (ADV 1946a), and vociferously complained to senior officials in
Honolulu.

The LORAN station was closed in 1953 due to logistical problems, the
hardship on the men at the station there, and most importantly, the Robinsons
wanted an end to the military occupation of the island.

Thus for more than a decade, the U.S. military occupied portions of
Ni'ihau. The only other military involvement with Ni'ihau occurred in 1965
when two U. S. Navy aircraft mistakenly bombed the island.10

Although their lifestyle was undeniably altered by this presence, the
Ni'ihauans, by and large, maintained their traditional ways. They were still
the directors of their own destinies, but that was challenged even before the
departure of the Coast Guard.
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NOTES

This incident is the subject of a recent book written by Allan Beekman
entitleg The Niihau Incident (1982, Honolulu: Heritage Press of the
Pacific). '

At least one person claims to be intimately knowledgeable about the
entire affair and said to me that when someone is ready, willing and able
to make a movie on the incident and "pay the price" for the inside
information, then and only then will the "real story of the Battle of
Ni'ihau be told" (Informant #5).

Hawaila Kaleohano was not born on Ni'ihau. He was originally from Hilo,
Hawaii and decided to stay on Ni'ihau after visiting his sister there in
1931 (ADV 1943a).

On May 26, 1962, the celebrated and decorated war hero, Beni Kanahele,
died at the age of seventy-one. ' Beni's death was felt very deeply by the
Ni'ihauans because he had always been respected as a leader in the
cloistered conmunity. Yet, Hawaiians throughout the State mourned his
passing because, by his bravery on that fateful day in December 1941, he
brought honor to and instilled immense pride in all Hawaiians.

Commanding General of the Mid-Pacific Armed Forces, Lieutenant General
Robert C. Richardson, Jr., conducted a simple but moving ceremony and
pinned the medals on Beni (ADV 1957c).

A piston of the engine that was originally housed in a museum on Kaua'i
eventually found its way to, of all places, Fredericksburg, Texas. It is
there now and will be included in an exhibit at the Admiral Nimitz State
Historical Park presently being designed and constructed (Beekman 1982).

An interesting anecdote to this traumatic period of Ni'ihauan history was
reported by Honolulu Advertiser columnist Bob Krause more than forty
years ago. It tells of a woman who purchased a scrapbook at an antique
shop on 0'ahu in 1981 for fifteen cents. In it was a clipping about Beni
Kanahele's feat of bravery. When Beni's grandson, Tom, came through
Hawai'i on his way to Australia on business, he met the woman by chance.
He said he would be very interested to view the scrapbook and clipping.
It was left for him at the desk of the Royal Hawaiian Hotel. Tom stopped
in American Samoa on his way to Australia and was staying at the
Rainmaker Hotel. The annual independence celebration was ongoing and
part of the festivities included a U.S. Navy skydiving exhibition. The
plane carrying the jumpers struck a cable-car wire and smashed into the
hotel. Virtually everything in Tom Kanahele's room was was destroyed,
except the scrapbook. The book was returned to the Honolulu woman with a
letter, excerpts of which read:
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To this day many people, including the Navy Department
whose crashed plane it was, don't understand why the hotel
was totally destroyed but the book survived. The hotel
walls collapsed. We found the book under a large heap of
rubble and nothing else left but ash. It was sitting right
there where I had left it minus the table it had been
sitting on. Truly the book was mana (ADV 1981) (Bold mine).

For those whose dependency on alcohol was so severe that the prohibition
on Ni'ihau proved too much a match for their will power, there were, at
times, drastic measures taken to satisfy their craving. A few
particularly sad cases even saw Aqua Velva being used as a substitute for
scotch, whiskey or bourbon. Also, when a ship was wrecked near Ni'ihau
in 1943, a keg of wood alcohol drifted to shore. It quickly became the
substance that made some soldiers' Rice Krispies go snap, crackle and pop
in the morning (Costa 1982).

World War II drastically changed the Pacific. Island peoples throughout
the vast expanse of this region had their lives and cultures permanently
altered. Many experienced firsthand the horror of combat and seemingly
merciless killing, while virtually all were introduced to western
technology that heretofore was unknown or, at most, represented vague
concepts or dreams in the islands. Ni'ihau can be counted among those
islands that experienced change due to the War, although the degree of
change was probably less drastic there because 1t had been an American
territory since the turn of the century. Radios, trucks, different
foods, and so on, became a part of the Ni'ihauan world during this time.
Many of these implements of the "modern world" remained after the
soldiers departed.

In the mid-1960s, the United States became embroiled in a conflict in
Southeast Asia which would virtually bring the country to its knees—not
by military defeat, but rather through unparalleled negative public
opinion. Notwithstanding the growing anti-Vietnam sentiment in the
streets and on the campuses of the United States, intensive training for
the rigors of jungle warfare was being carried out on nearly every U.S.
military installation. Military bases in Hawai'i were no exception.

At 9:15 p.m. on October 5, 1965, two Navy A-1 dive bombers had been
catapulted airborne from the deck of the aircraft carrier Ticonderoga
(ADV 1965b). Launched into the balmy night skies of Hawai'i, the pilots
vectored their heavily armed aircraft toward the U.S. Navy practice
bombing site of Ka'ula Rock, about twenty-two miles southwest of

Ni'ihau. It was night training to sharpen their ordnance delivery skills
before the Ticonderoga deployed to the Western Pacific and Vietnam.

Their approach was picture perfect. They had their target aligned and
"pickled it." Eight 250-pound bombs wisped through the evening
stillness. It looked Tike a short string of firecrackers from the air
but on the ground the impact was thunderous and fiery.
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The pilots pulled back on their sticks and the bombers disappeared into
the blackness from whence they came. Mission accomplished; good training.

The word did not reach Senator Inouye's (Democrat, Hawai'i) office in
Washington until three days later. How could two experienced Navy pilots
bomb the wrong island? As a member of the Senate Armed Services
Committee, Inouye demanded an immediate stop to all bombing unti'l an
1nves;.19at10n was complete on why the bombs were dropped on Ni'ihau (SB
1965a).

The bombs detonated on a beach at the foot of the cliffs near Ki'i
landing. The Robinson sampan to Kaua'i, with passengers on board,
departed the landing only a few hours earlier. The northeast cliffs of
Ni'ihau were between where the bombs were dropped and Pu'uwai which
probably muffled the sound to the residents. The Ni'ihauans often felt
the rumble when jets bombed Ka'ula Rock, so if they felt a slight earth
tremor they most 1ikely would have attributed it to that. In any case,
they slept.

Expecting this to be the lawsuit to beat all lawsuits, the Navy
Department geared up. Instead, Aylmer's response was: "This sort of
accident could have happened anywhere, whether they were bombing French
Frigate Shoals or a floating target in the sea" (ADV 1965b).

The Navy sent an Explosive Ordnance Disposal Team to Ni'jhau to ensure
that no duds remained. Confirming that, officials wiped their brows and
eased out of the picture.
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CHAPTER IX

THE PUBLIC EYE IS FOCUSED ON NI'IHAU

Territorial Senators Visit Ni'ihau

The immediate post-war years witnessed a resurgence of idealism. The War
had been fought to preserve democracy and American values, including the
notion that all citizens should be able to realize their full potential and
pursue the American dream. Some legislators in Hawai'i felt that not all
their constituents were being afforded that opportunity and became determined
to rectify the situation. The results of their efforts had an incredibly
profound effect on the island, people and lifestyle of Ni'ihau and will be
covered in more detail in subsequent chapters where specific issues and points
of interest about the island are described.

It began with a rumor in June 1946 that Kaua'i County could not continue
to subsidize the Ni'ihau School because it consisted of privately owned
buildings on private land. When this caught the ear of the Territorial
Legislature, a Senate investigation committee was formed and ordered to visit
Ni'ihau. 1 Specifically, Senate Resolution No. 64 directed the committee

.+« to investigate what lands, roads, schools, parks,
landing facilities, and other properties or improvements
are owned by the Territory or the county on (Ni'ihau), and
the welfare of the people there, and their employment or
deprivation of the Four Freedoms ... (Brown 1947:1).
The committee consisted of Senators Francis H. Brown (Chairman), Francis

Sylva, John B. Fernandes, C. A, Crozier, Charles H. Silva, and W. H. Hill
(Ibid. 3). They arrived on Ni'ihau on July 30, 1946. In retrospect, it
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appears that they had a preconceived notion about what they would find.
However, in what may have been an attempt at objectivity, the committee did
not rely on the Robinsons for transportation to or on the island. They hired
a boat to take them to Ni'ihau and the Coast Guardsmen from the LORAN station
provided the senators with on—island vehicular transportation (SB 1959e).

The preliminary statements of the senators upon their return were sharply
critical of the management of the island. The education and health programs
drew the most fire. Not only were the Robinsons implicated as negligent by
the committee but also the Territorial Superintendent of Public Instruction
and the President of the Board of Health were criticized for not ensuring that
Ni'ihauans were afforded the same educational and health guarantees as the
rest of the population.

" On the basis of the committee's initial comments, both the Territorial
Superintendent of Public Instruction , Doctor Harold W. Loper‘,2 and Governor
I. M. Stainback indicated they would visit Ni'ihau "in the near future" (ADV
1946¢c). The Governor never did. However, a representative from the U. S.
Department of Interior who was to accompany the Governor did go. Upon his
return he said:

The people look very happy and contented with their lot and
fairly healthy.

I hope the people of Niihau are always fortunate enough to
have the guidance of a man 1ike Aylmer Robinson (SB 1946d).

Undaunted, the senate committee continued its own drum beating. They
claimed drastic improvements were needed on Ni'ihau. Whether or not the
situation on the island was as severe as the senators made it out to be, the
fact remained that the public eye was certainly now on Ni'ihau, much to the

dismay of the Robinsons and the Ni'ihauans. National magazines like the
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Saturday Evening Post ran articles about the island, and national news

broadcasts found the controversy sufficiently newsworthy as a human-interest
story to give it air time (ADV 2947b).
An editorial in the Honolulu Advertiser contended that the Ni'ihauans have

a "right to know" the advantages and disadvantages of living as other
Americans. It continued that while the Ni'ihauans are seemingly content, they
should be afforded the knowledge of what is available; then they could
judiciously choose. The Robinsons, according to the editorial, were depriving
them of the freedom of choice through their isolation (ADV 1946h). When asked
about the charges made by the senatorial committee, Aylmer Robinson told them,

«ssthat traditional Niihau isolationism is based as much

upon the desires of the inhabiting Hawaiians as upon the

inclination of the management. The management, he said,

requests permission from the island inhabitants before an

invitation is extended or permission granted for an

‘outsider to enter to 'avoid imposition' (ADV 1946e).

There were many people who supported the Robinsons and demonstrated it by
writing letters to the Advertiser opposing the paper's editorial stance on the
issue. Highlighting that there was no crime or jails on Ni'ihau, only
contented people desiring to be left alone, one Letter to the Editor had this
suggestion for the Legislature:

Ably reporting the Legislative Committee's investigation of
Niihau, the Advertiser had rendered service to the
Territory because, on the face of the Committee's findings,
the next Legislature can do nothing less than appropriate
enough to hire the Robinson boys to run the rest of the
Islands (ADV 1946g).

The battle lines were drawn. It seemed the Territorial Legislature was
gearing up for a systematic attack on the Robinsons and would not rest until

Ni'ihau was brought in line with the rest of the islands, regardless of what
the Ni'ihauans really desired.
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Remarkably, all this was occurring without the Committee's final report
being officially submitted to the full Senate.

The Senate Report

Weeks passed into months and still Senator and Committee Chairman Francis
Brown had not filed the Committee's findings and recommendations. This was
needed before any official consideration could be given to rectifying what
were perceived to be serious problems on Ni'ihau.

During a senate session on March 20, 1947, where the subject of teacher
retirement ages was being discussed, Senator Brown was asked about his
report. Brown said it would be submitted "shortly" and that it would contain
"enough bills on Ni'ihau ... to keep the Senate busy for the remainder of the
session" (ADV 1947a).

Senator Brown kept his promise and finally submitted a three-page report
on March 24, 1947, nearly eight months after the Ni'ihau visit. It was signed
by all Senate Committee members and read in part:

There is no land on the island owned either by individuals
(other than Gay and Robinson, the owners of the island),
the Country of Kauai or the Territory of Hawaii, although
on?e appropriations were made for road purposes on that
island. '

The tenants are permitted to own no property except their
horses. The provisions for schooling are inadequate, the
Department of Public Instruction having apparently
withdrawn from unequal combat; there is no provision made
either by the public or by the owners of Niihau to provide
an education of the tenants up to the eighth grade. There
is no medical attention, and while the people in the main
are relatively happy and relatively well, there are
occasions when they need medical supervision and assistance
and their happiness arises largely, your committee
believes, from the fact that they have been completely
isolated from the development of civilization and do not
know from what they are cut off.
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Their situation is such that they must and do live in
complete subservience to the owners of Niihau and, kindly
and paternal as the dominion of their landlords is, it is
still irreconcilable with the principles of liberty and the
freedom of individuals upon which our Nation was founded
and which it cherishes as a fundamental faith (Senate
Journal 1948:248-9).

The report went on and listed the "necessities" which the committeemen

felt were being deprived to the Ni'ihauans (and the Territory!). Among them

were:

«s« No public landings or port facilities ... no publicly
owned houses in which teachers or other government
employees may reside either permanently or temporarily ...
no land available for the establishment of motion picture
houses or shops ... no newspaper or radio communication,
and the tenants are not permitted to own radios ... no
electric system or telephone system (Ibid.).

The Committee listed many recommendations in order to rectify these

problems.

In summary, the Committee concluded that,

The entire comunity is out of step with our local and our
national concept of freedom of the individual and of
government by the people, of the people and for the

people. No one born and brought up on Niihau would have an
opportunity of decent survival in the competition of free
men which exists elsewhere in these Hawaiian Islands and in
the Union generally. Even in such a primitive community,
however, it is intolerable that spiritual solace and
guidance, the administration of the rites of the church of
their choice, should be denied the tenants, and that such
is the case, the adherents of the Roman Catholic Church
know only too well.

In short, your committee finds that either directly or by
implication, three of the four freedoms, to wit, freedom of
speech, freedom of religion, and freedom from fear, either
by name or in essence, are unknown upon the island of
Niihau (Ibid.).

The very next day after this report was officially submitted to the

Senate, Senator Brown surprised everyone by recalling it (ADV 1947b). It

seems that a land survey engineer had made discovery that the Territory did,
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in fact, have control and ownership over a portion of land on Ni'ihau through
school and church land patents (see Part Two, Chapter XII). This discovery
was considered significant enough for the report to be recalled and amended.
Senator Brown resubmitted it in mid-April and, while the thrust of the report
remained focused on bringing "civilization" to Ni'ihau (ADV 1947c), it made
these specific recommendations: 1) sufficient land be acquired to provide for
the establishment of a school; 2) that appropriate land approaches and the
establishment of a landing pier for government use be acquired and that such
be constructed; 3) that facilities for roads leading from the pier to the
government center be acquired, and such roads be constructed; 4) that a small
field for airplanes be acquired and connected with the public road system; 5)
that land be acquired for, and a hospital and dispensary be established; 6)
that land be acquired for a district courthouse and police station and a
district magistrate be appointed; 8)‘that the Attorney General remit to the
Tax Assessor the figures and value at which such lands were acquired; 9) that
the Superintendent of Public Instruction, and his predecessor in office, be
summoned before the Senate to explain why the Department has not made adequate
efforts to educate the children of Ni'ihau; 10) that provisions be made for
scholarships sufficient to provide for the 1iving accommodations and expenses
of graduates of the eighth grade of the Ni'ihau School, when it is
established, who show scholastic promise to receive a high school education;
and, 11) that radio or telephone communications between Ni'ihau and Kaua'i and

the other islands of the Territory be established (Senate Journal 1948:410).

The amended report was adopted by the Senate on April 14, 1947, after two
attempts to defer action on it failed (Ibid. 451). Senator Brown followed
this immediately with the introduction of two Senate Bills based on the
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report. These were Senate Bills 502 and 503 which were introduced on April
17th and 18th, respectively. They read:
S.B. 502: An act providing for the acquisition of lands by
any lawful method other than exchange on the island of
Niihau for certain public purposes and making an
appropriation.
S.B. 503: An act making it a misdemeanor for any landlord
or land owner to interfere with, prevent or penalize the
administration of religious rites or spiritual comfort by
the clergy to the tenants or other occupants of the land of
such landlord or land owner (Ibid. 578).

The public center mentioned in the recommendations was to be located in
Pu'uwai and include a grade school, teacher cottages, a district courthouse, a
dispensary, police station, playground and 1living accommodations for a public
health nurse (SB 1947d).

The two bills were approved by the Senate. The one calling for the
acquisition of land passed its third reading by the surprisingly narrow margin

8-7 (Senate Journal 1948:787).3 Senate Bill 503, being more a general

measure, passed 13-2 (Ibid. 933).

As the bills were making their way through the maze of required Senate
committees and readings, many Hawaiian groups and thousands of individual
citizens objected to the intentions of the Legislature. On April 2ist, a
lengthy letter (see Appendix C) from Aylmer Robinson to former Senator
Charles A. Rice was introduced to the Senate (Ibid. 631-4). In it, Aylmer
took each of the Committee's recommendations and either refuted them as
unfounded or justified the condition as being the will of the residents, not
solely of hjm. The next day, Senator Akana presented what became Senate
Petition No. 21. It was comprised of three emotional letters submitted to the
President of the Senate by Ni'ihauans. Each claimed to be expressing the
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sentiments of the sixty-two adults on Ni'ihau and included a request that
Governor Stainback veto any measures passed by the Legislature that would
~ alter Ni'ihauan lifestyle or present conditions (ADV 1947c).

The Governor never saw the bills because the House, possibly influenced by
the widespread public outcry against government intrusion into Ni'ihauan
affairs, rejected them. While the Robinsons and the Ni'ihauans seemed to have
defied the odds at least for the time being, ripples made by the splash of the
1946 senatorial investigation would continue to stir the controversial waters
surrounding Ni'ihau for decades to come. Some heralded the investigation as
the singlemost influential event in upgrading conditions on Ni'ihau. Others
denounced it as an invasion of privacy and as a forcible imposition of the

will of some on that of others.
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NOTES
Two areas were specifically targeted to be investigated: Lana'i and
Ni'ihau (SB 1946a).
Dr. Loper's visit to Ni'ihau did not take place until May 1947.

Included in the list of senators favoring the measure was Neil
Blaisdell.
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CHAPTER X

EDUCATION ON NI'IHAU

Casting the First Stone

In Part One, the origins of formal western education on Ni'ihau were
presented. The intense but short-lived efforts by the Catholics and the
half-hearted attempts by the Congregationalists succeeded only in planting the
'seeds of a Christian education among the Ni'ihauans. As the population
gradually declined, so did the number of schools. It is estimated that from
the twelve schools that Wilkes claims were on Ni'ihau in 1840 (Wilkes
1845:64), there remained only one by 1867. At that time, the population of
Ni'ihau was only about 300, a drop of nearly two-thirds in a quarter century.

The one school continued providing rudimentary instruction to Ni'ihau
children into the twentieth century, but only up to the fifth grade. This was
the situation when the Senate Committee visited in 1946. What the senators
found were about sixty students in these five grades being taught by two
dedicated but unqualified teachers: Mrs. Hannah Niau and Mrs. Miriam
Hanaike.! A11 of the buildings and land on which they were located were
believed to be privately owned just as the rumors on Kaua'i had indicated (ADV
1946¢).

During the aforementioned Senate discussion on the retirement age of
teachers (March 20, 1947), Senators C. A. Crozier and Harold Rice used the

opportunity to criticize Ni'ihau's school system. It was reported that when
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Senator Crozier broached the subject, many of his colleagues snickered to
which Crozier sharply replied:

This is no joke. There are American children over there

and if the superintendent of public instruction hasn't

the intestinal fortitude to see that they receive

education benefits, he should be fired (SB 1947a).

Senator Rice charged that "school books on Ni'ihau are locked up...and the
students learn only from the Bible" (ADV 1947a). While the Senator probably
acknowledged that there were some pretty good "lessons" to be learned from the
Good Book, his sights were obviously set on the 3Rs.

CTo determine the reasons for Ni'ihau's educational system being so far
behind the times, the Senate summoned the Superintendent of Public
Instruction, Dr. Loper, and the Chairman of the Commission of Public
Instruction, Oren E. Long, to testify. Both were asked if they had visited
Ni'ihau and if they were able to accurately assess the educational problems
there. Although Mr. Long replied negatively to both questions, a 1936 letter
was introduced in which he allegedly characterized the Ni'ihau School as being
in the "dark ages." When asked what he had done to rectify the situation (in
eleven years), Long ashamedly admitted not much. Dr. Loper indicated that his
intention to visit Ni'ihau after the senate investigation committee returned
was overtaken by other important matters, but he still intended to seek the
Robinsons' permission (SB 1947a).

Although the two senate bills that resulted from the investigation failed
to become laws, there can be no question that as a result of the focus
provided by the Committee, education on Ni'ihau was changed.?

One. of the most important spinoffs of the 1946 senatorial investigation

was that it drew support to increase the education level at the Ni'ihau School
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to grade eight. Most of the people who criticized the government's
encroachment into Ni'ihauan affairs did support, as a minimum, an eighth grade
education for the children (ADV 1947d).

Follow-up by the Department of Public Instruction

The Department of Public Instruction (DPI) took some serious lumps during
the early 1947 Senate hearings. In a knee-jerk reaction, a trip by the DPI
was planned to Ni'ihau as part of their regularly scheduled meetings on Kaua'i
in May of that year. Making good on his statement to the Senate Committee,
Dr. Loper was to head the delegation. Accompanying him and other DPI and
Board of Health officials were the Chairman of the House Education Committee,
Representative Flora K. Hayes, and Representative Walter McGuire (Minutes of
the Meeting ... 1947:83).

From this trip came glowing reports by Representative Hayes on the
contentment and happiness of the Ni'ihauans. She also said the islanders were
quite well informed since they "knew of her and her (recent) trip to
Washington D. C." (SB 1947f). It was her contention that the senators of the
1946 fact-finding committee were insensitive. She described it this way:

I do not believe the initial group of senators who
visited Ni'ihau included a person who could speak
Hawaiian. For this reason I believe that the residents
did not express their views freely to the legislature
(Ibid.).

In a more objective view, the DPI found that a grade level had been added
since the senatorial visit and reported that there were sixty-five children

being taught by two teachers in two classrooms (one needing replacement); that

textbooks were in adequate supply; and that "character education" was being
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given a prominent place in their schooling (Minutes of the Meeting ...

1947:83). They found there was need of supplementary reading materials and
visual aids, and that teachers needed in-service training. Their
recommendation was that within two years the school provide instruction to and
including eighth grade (Ibid. 82). The DPI also recommended that
encouragement is needed to get the children to attend high school {n Waimea,
Kaua'i (ADV 1947g).

The‘teachers. Mrs. Niau and Mrs. Hanaike, had been recruited from among
the Nj'ihauan population in 1939 when the old, well-educated Hawaiian teacher,
Mr. Edward M. Kahale, suddenly died. "Everyone somehow expected (him) to live
forever and no one in the community of 200 was prepared to take his place" (SB
19471).

Obtaining teachers for Ni'ihau has never been an easy task. They have had
to be acquired from within the island's population since the Robinsons would
not permit an "outsider" to reside there. Also, it is doubtful whether the
islanders themselves would place their trust in one that was not of their
kind. Added to this was the problem of finding a volunteer to work there for
a year or more. Most crucial, perhaps, would be the language barrier. The
teacher would need to be fluent in Hawaiian. Ni'ihauans speak very rapidly
and their dialect is as close to the traditional language as there exists
anywhere. Even the most fluent Hawaiian speakers have difficulty
understanding Ni'ihauans unless the conversation is very slow (Apo 1982). See
Appendix D for more on the nuances of Ni'ihau's language.

The two teachers in 1947 each instructed combined classrooms with three
grade levels in each. Upon completion of the sixth grade, the boys supposedly

began work on the ranch while the girls assisted their mothers. There was
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always the opportunity to attend Kaua'i junior and senior high school, but few
opted for it.

After the May 1947 visit by the DPI, a third Ni'ihauan teacher was found
and hired. This was confirmed in December of 1947 when the President of
Kamehameha Schools, Harold W. Kent, visited the island specifically to
determine if an education at Kamehameha Schools would be beneficial to
Ni'ihauan children. One was already attending. During Mr. Kent's visit, the
seventh}and eighth grades had not yet been established so each teacher had two
classes (ADV 19471).

The Ni'ihauans realized the problem that faced them. Unless they wanted
an outsider as a teacher, some of the children needed to be encouraged to seek
teaching degrees and return to Ni'ihau. Their hopes saw fruition in the Tikes
of Jean Ku'uleialoha Kelly who, on June 1, 1952, became the first Ni'ihauan to
graduate from Kamehameha Schools (ADV 1952). Her education was paid by the
Robinsons. After graduation she returned to Ni'ihau to teach. Later, she
4also attended Honolulu Christian College.

When DPI officials again visited Ni'ihau on October 19, 1954, they
considered it an historic event. They actually conducted their board meeting
there, marking the first time that Ni'ihau had ever hosted such an event

(Minutes of the Meeting ... 1954:6). The commissioners made much more of the

event than did the humble Ni'ihauans. Their report reflected satisfaction
with the improvements noted in Ni'ihau's education system (Ibid.). A third
classroom had been constructed and fifty-four students were enrolled. Most
importantly, "junior high school" classes had been established. Three
teachers were responsible for the instruction: Mrs. Niau, grades one and two;

Mrs. Jean Keale, grades three, four and five; and, the replacement for Mrs,




80

Hanaike, Mrs. Gilbert Pahulehua, who taught grades six, seven and eight. The
students were described as extremely well-mannered, well-dressed and speaking
"good" English (SB 1954).

By this time the DPI visits to Ni'ihau became quite regular. The 1957
visit did not produce as complimentary and favorable a report as did previous
ones. In fact, so little Qas mentioned in the official minutes of the
Commissioners' regularly scheduled board meeting about the condition of the
Ni'ihau School that it was conspicuous by its absence. At most, the comments
centered on the lack of lighting in the classrooms and the fact that only two
of the rooms were reported as being used (Minutes of the Meeting ... 1957).

Personal comments by the commissioners indicated that the teachers were
inadequately trained but "dedicated" and "doing the best job possible" (SB
1957b). The children were again described as happy, well-dressed but
extremely shy in the presence of strangers (ADV 1957a). Possibly one reason
for more personal rather than official comments was that the DPI commissioners
and officials spent only one hour at the school. Six were spent visiting
other parts of the island (Ibid.) and the rest, most likely, were in transit.
In October 1959, the Superintendent of Public Instruction, Walter M.
Gordon, headed the DPI delegation to Ni'ihau. The report that followed was

not very substantive and 1little different than the previous.3

Criticisms Continue Against the Robinsons and the DPI
What seems to have occurred during the 1947-59 time frame was that
interest in upgrading the education system of Ni'ihau went from a fever pitch
by the Territorial Government to one of accepting the status quo, much 1like

the attitude had been prior to the 1946 senate trip. Many say the Robinsons
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were at fault by throwing up as many obstacles as possible in the path of the
DPI officials. The validity of that statement is dependent totally on one's
point of view. Some strong accusations, however, surfaced during that time
which, when taken at face value, put the landlords in a bad light. For
example, when the 1946 senatorial committee asked to see the school, they were
allegedly told by Aylmer that it was locked and no teachers were available.
That could have been correct because it was July and school was out. It was
reported that Senator Crozier said,

««» he would kick the door in when no one knew the

whereabouts of the key to the school's door. The

'Robinsons notified (him) that the school was private

property and (he) could not break in the door,' (SB

195%).

The key was not found while the senators were there, and the veiled threat
by Aylmer obviously worked since Senator Crozier did not damage the building.
Also alleged by Crozier was that as soon as the senators tried to talk with a
Ni'ihauan "Robinson would eye them ... (and) they would immediately turn and
walk away" (Ibid.).

Whatever the reason, whatever the truth, the fact remained that Ni'ihau's
education system was seen as a major flaw in the Robinsons' management of the
island. Critics claimed that

.=+ 8th grade graduates, for the most part, (were) simply
incapable of taking advance schooling ... they may not be
able to compete in organized society (ADV 1961a).

However, in 1959, it was the DPI that came under fire for its seemingly
complacent attitude toward the education of Ni'ihauan children. Certainly
twelve years was enough time for the DPI to upgrade the situation on Ni'ihau.

The catalyst was an article published in the November 4th edition of the
Honolulu Star Bulletin newspaper entitled "Nobody's Ever Been Drafted From
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Niihau" (SB 1959b). The report alleged that "not one Niihauan man has
(volunteered or) served in the armed forces." This was not to imply that the
Selective Service on Kaua'i intentionally overlooked Ni'ihau as a source of
recruits, but rather, that the young men from the island were rejected by the
Army because they could not pass the literacy test because of the language
barrier. The Bulletin reporter critically contended that "cowboys on the
~ Robinson ranch still sat tall in the sadd]e" while many other young men saw
their 4-F classification changed to 1-A during the War years (Ibid.).
Accusation that Aylmer was getting all his Ni'ihauans defefred as
"agricultural workers" went unfoundedl.4 The article did, however, raise
questions as to the efficiency of the Ni'ihau School since English was alleged
to be the language of instruction.

In an attempt to determine the adequacy of the Ni'ihauan education system
and, more importantly, if State laws were being complied with, a series of

questions were put to the DPI by the Star Bulletin. Those questions and the

DPI's responses follow:

Q. Draft board statements that Niihau young men are all
rejected because of illiteracy and inability to speak
English would seem to indicate that Niihau children are
not getting an eighth grade education. Shouldn't the
D.P.I. investigate this? If not, why not?

A. Children completing the eighth grade speak English
reasonably well. Since English is not spoken in the
homes and in the community it stands to reason that
proficiency in spoken English will deteriorate through
non-use by the time they are called up for military
induction some six to eight years later,

The D.P.I. makes periodic checks on the program and is
confident that acceptable work is being done. Efforts
are being made to improve the program and is confident
that acceptable work is being done. An investigation

is not indicated and would serve no useful purpose at

this time, '
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Dr. Deal Crooker (Superintendent) said the D.P.I. had
not been able to get qualified teachers to go there.
Has any real effort been made, perhaps attempts to
interest some beginning teachers? If not, why not?
The matter has been explored and it seems best to
employ local residents. There is no housing available
for a teacher from the outside and no public
transportation available. Living conditions and social
life would require a major adjustment for a person not
accustomed to the mode of life. We have had no
requests by teachers for assignment to Ni'ihau.

Are Niihuan youngsters using textbooks and other
equipment equal to materials used in other D.P.I.
schools? If not, why?

The same textbooks, educational materials and equipment
are provided Niihau as other schools.

Are attendance records, scholastic records and so forth
kept by the Niihau teachers? Are reports made to the
district office on Kauai? If not, why?

The teachers keep records of attendance and scholarship
as in any other school and reports are made to the
district office.

Are there any records on how many Niihau youngsters
have gone on to high school? How did they fare? Have
any gotten as far as college?

The D.P.I. has no records on the number of Niihau
youngsters who have gone on to high school. We know a
few have chosen to do so and apparently got along all
right. One student from Niihau is now enrolled at the
Church College of Hawaii at Laie. We have no
information on how many others have attended college.

Is any effort made to keep youngsters in school until
age 16, as required by law? If not, why not?

The Taw requiring school attendance to age 16
specifically states that such attendance shall not be
compulsory where the distance to the nearest school
exceeds four miles and no free or commercial
transportation is provided. Normally children will
complete grade 8 at 14 years of age. Children on
Niihau attend school until age 16 if they have not
completed the 8th grade at an earlier age which most do.

Dr. Crooker said he 'felt sure' pupils were staying in
school until age 16, as required by law. Does the
D.P.I. KNOW this to be true?

The law is being complied with as stated above.




84

Q. Are Niihau pupils given dental and medical examinations
as required in other schools? If not, why not?

A. The Board of Health provide health services including
inoculations required elsewhere. School dental health
services are not provided by the D.P.I. because of
housing and transportation problems.

Q. Assuming that most youngsters finish eighth grade by
age 13 or 14, it would appear that all Niihau children
are NOT remaining in school until 16. It also would
appear that no effort is made to enforce state
statutes? Any comment?

A. See above. No statutes are being broken.

Q. This situation had obviously existed for several years,
with no action taken by the D.P.I. to improve school
facilities or the quality of instruction. Why not?

A. The D.P.I. has done much to improve school facilities
and the quality of education on Niihau. For details
contact District Superintendent Clower on Kauai who has
given the leadership and direction.

Q. Doesn't the D.P.I. feel that Niihau pupils are entitled
to the advantages enjoyed by other Hawaii children?

A. Certainly, the D.P.I. feels that Niihau pupils are
entitled to educational advantages enjoyed by other
children in Hawaii and it is making every reasonable
effort to provide same in light of existing
circumstances.

Q. And if the D.P.I. wasn't aware of conditions on Niihau,
how is it possible that they were overlooked?

A. The D.P.I. is aware of the school situation on Niihau.
They have not been overlooked or neglected (SB 1959d).

Ni'ihau Qualifies for a Federal Grant
More about the education system came to light in the sixties due to
continued DPI visits and pressure by critics. By early 1960s, Jean Kelly had
married, and the new Mrs. Jean Keale enrolled in the University of Hawai'i to
pursue her State-required teaching certificate (SB 1962a). She was also the
first Ni'ihauan to attend the University and also instruct there as a teaching
assistant. She taught a subject about which she had a great deal of

expertise: the Hawaiian 1anguage.5
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While Jean Keale was seeking her teaching certificate at the University,
the other teachers on Ni'ihau were considered on a "temporary status” by the
State because they were technically unqualified. They were paid accordingly
(SB 1961a). Keale returned to Ni'ihau full time in August 1962.

Prior to her departure, she was interviewed by reporters and her comments
reflect pretty much the sentiments of Ni'ihauans, then and now. She
criticized modern living as too competitive. Having to carry a purse, money
and keys with which to lock everything was an inconvenience about which on
Ni'ihau she need not concern herself. Probably her most poignant comment
dealt with a commonly held belief that Ni'ihauans were illiterate and
ignorant. To this she replied that it depends on whose standards were being
used. '"We don't need to be rushed with your methods" she said (SB 1962a).
Keale returned to the University during the following summers and eventually
did become "certified" by the Department of Education.

In 1964, a DPI school lunch program was instituted on Ni'ihau after
officials inspected the school on September 29th and saw children going home
to eat lunch (SB 1964e). More changes, however, were still on the horizon.

When the State Superintendent of Schools, R. Yarberry, personally visited
Ni'ihau in September 1965, he recommended a study be made to determine if a
cooperative educational program could be developed between the Department of
Education (DOE), formerly the DPI, and the Kamehameha Schools to upgrade the
education on Ni'ihau through increased use of audiovisual materials and a
learning center (ADV 1965a). The student enrollment at the Ni'ihau School was
now seventy-four.

With Ni'ihau being classified as a "poverty" area because of the low

average annual family income ($4,000), the island seemingly qualified for
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federal funds under President Lyndon Johnson's "War on Poverty" campaign and
the Economic Opportunity Act (ADV 1965c). Yarberry made application for
federal assistance with the aim being to,

... increase (children) skills in the use of English,

improve their understanding of the modern Hawaiian culture

and the Western World and ... raise their skill and

employment capabilities (Ibid.).

Superintendent Yarberry saw this as an opportunity to implement his
cooperative education system recommendation. Regarding the teachers, the
funds were to enable them to attend workshops conducted by the Department of
Education and Kamehameha Schools both on Kaua'i and in Honolulu, and among
other things, be trained in the use of visual aids. The students stood to
benefit from this increased teacher proficiency and by the two- or three-day
trips to Kamehameha Schools on 0'ahu for themselves and their parents. They
would stay in the dormitories, eat in the dining halls, and attend selected
classes (Ibid. AlA).

The federal grant amounted to $51,623, a sum $2,000 more than was
requested, and the program was implemented as planned (ADV 1966a). Children
and parents came to Honolulu in 1967 for a cultural and scholastic orientation
visit. In addition to attending selected classes at Kamehameha Schools, they
were taken to the Bishop Museum, the Academy of Arts, Iolani Palace, Pearl
Harbor, the University of Hawai'i, canneries, plantations, the business
district, Sea Life Park and more,

The grant also provided funds to purchase audiovisual and special teaching
materials and books (SB 1965b), as well as a building to store them. Aylmer
Robinson was quite cooperative and gave permission for the building to be

constructed. It was completed in September 1966. In it was housed the

equipment provided by the grant including movie, slide and filmstrip




87

projectors, and generators to operate them (SB 1967b). Additionally, the
State gave the Ni'ihau School a television receiver and charged the Kaua'i
District Elementary Curriculum Specialist to carefully select books for the
Ni'ihau children. The DOE even conducted a special summer program on Ni'ihau
in July 1966 where children and parents were presented classes on language,
arts, crafts, speech, music, health and physical education (Ibid.).

As somewhat of a pat on its own back, the DPI inspected Ni'ihau in October
1967 and gave its education system high marks. Through the "outstanding
contribution" being made by the dedicated teachers, the officials witnessed
the "application of sound educational principles" to eighty-seven students (SB
1967g). The audiovisual room was being used by the students during the day
and by the adults at night.

What Price Progress?

The Ni'ihau School was slowly being brought into educational modernity.
The question that still loomed in the minds of many was whether all this
improvement in education to a virtually impoverished people was the right
thing to do.

In a commentary, the Honolulu Star Bulletin editorialized that Ni'ihau, as

a whole, could be swept into the twentieth century on the basis of these new,
modern, westernized education plans. The article drew a comparison between it
and how the mainland was trying to cope with ongoing civil rights and
demonstrations, as well as the government's attempts to set straight the
record.

Perhaps this part of the overall 'civil rights' drive, this

business of taking people from a feudal, somewhat primitive
existence to which they have grown accustomed and exposing
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them to the delights of a civilization to which they may
aspire but which, for many, can only be a dream and a
source of later discontent (SB 1965¢c).

This short, somewhat fatalistic, but penetrating, analysis presents a
third view to the perplexing problem of a compulsory educational format. The
Ni'ihauans contend they do not desire nor need it. They see it as a coercive
attempt to have them abandon their language, and they regard it as
inconvenient and unfair. The opposing side sees western education as a

requirement necessary to function in a modern world. Thirdly, the editors of

the Star Bulletin project a viewpoint that implies force-feeding western

education to a society that neither wants it nor, most importantly, can use it
will result in frustration, discontent and, ultimately, despair. In other
words, it created an unobtainable goal. The United States learned this lesson
quite vividly in the U. S. Trust Territory subsequent to World War II when
those islands were placed in strategic trust of America. Today, the

Micronesians suffer the consequences of a bloated government and

administration without a substantial economic base. There are thousands of
high school graduates who are products of the western education system imposed
on them. They have acquired very western values, and yet they can find no
work. In essence, the U. S. created a gigantic, elistist welfare case at the
expense of local cultures. Although the situation in Ni'ihau may never rise
to the proportions of a Micronesia. the two share many similarities. Simply
stated, the critical factor that should be weighed into the equation on

Ni'ihau education is not to impose the will of one on that of another.
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Transient Families Compound Educational Problems

One of the most perplexing educational problems with which the DOE has had
to cope concerning Ni'ihau involves the frequent moves made by Ni'ihauan
families between their home island and Kaua'i. Whether it is for month or two
to visit family, or for a growing season when the Ni'ihau ranch has less work
than that needed to keep all the heads of household gainfully employed,
children frequently accompany their parents. They are then enrolled
temporarily in the Kaua'i school system.5 Critics claim that this aggravates
an already unsatisfactory situation and the children usually end up suffering
for it because of two reasons. First, the Ni'ihau education system,
notwithstanding all the improvements during the 1960s, is not on a par with
Kaua'i's. As reported in 1970, sixth grade Ni'ihauan students were nearly
always placed in the fifth grade, but their level of proficiency was more on a
second grade level (ADV 1970t). One would think this woujq be an embarrassing
situation for the older student but this presupposes that the student cares
about such things. That still is a very debatable point\oﬁ Ni'ihau.
Regardless, the fact remains that the speed and proficiency with which a
student advances academically in such a migratory environment is considerably
lower than if he or she were permanently enrolled in one institution.

The second reason is the ever present language barrier. Afthough a
distinction is drawn between these two reasons, the demarcation is fuzzy in
the case of Ni'ihau students. The latter is undoubtedly a prime contributing
factor to the first. In the 1970s, as more Ni'ihauan children enrolled,
albeit temporarily, in Kaua'i schools and the differential between their
academic skills and that of Kaua'i children could be more closely observed,

the critics became vocal again. As in the past, the Department of Education
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and the Robinsons came to the forefront. Although the Robinsons were being
accommodating to the DOE on its requests to visit the Ni'ihau School, the
family was still accused of neglect. Also, reports criticized the DOE of
approaching the problem "with timidity, not wishing to incur the 111 will of
the‘ownersw"’(ADV’TQVOV}. Then Superintendent of the Kaua'i School District,
William Waters, allegedly admitted that the DOE had "fallen behind on
record-keeping" concerning attendance of Ni'ihau children (Ibid.). The
situation just never seemed to right itself.

Coping with the Language Barrier

English is a second language to the Ni'ihauans yet the DOE mandates that
classes be taught in English, not Hawaiian. The lowest comparative scores
achieved by Ni*ihauan‘students‘on State-administered proficiency examinations
is English language comprehension. Marks in the mathematics portion, it being
an "abstract" language, were more competitive, but still lower than State
averages (Herman 1982).

Few will argue that English is not very important for the Ni'ihauan
children to learn. Even residents recognize this (Informant #5). The
Superintendent of'Educatioh for Kaua'i District remarked that one of the
purposes of education on Ni'ihau is to teach English (Nakashima 1982). It is
required because not all the children remain in the Hawaiian
language-dominated society of Ni'ihau. To be competitive off island, being
conversant in English is virtda]]y mandatory.

A method by which the DOE is attempting to assist Ni'ihauan students to
overcome the language barrier and its inherent impediment to learning is

through the federally-funded Hawai'i Bilingual/Multi-Cultural Education
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Project (Informant #6; Ongteco 1982). Ni'ihau was accepted into the Program
in 1980 for grades Kindergarten through six. According to the Educational
Specialist in charge of the Program, the native language can be used to
explain curriculum concepts in school that cannot be comunicated in English
(Ongteco 1982). This is particularly significant and applicable in science,
mathematics and the social sciences. The Program stresses that the native
language is gradually phased out as the "language of instruction” as students
become more proficient in English. It all depends on the progress of the
students. This must be incredibly difficult for the youngsters who only speak
Hawaiian at all other times.

The current federal funding for the Bilingual/Multi~Cultural Education
Program terminated at the end of 1983. With the Reagan Administration sharply
cutting federal education and social assistance programs, the chances of
continued funding is in jeopardy. The DOE hopes that the State-funded
Students of Limited English Proficiency (SLEP) Program will provide assistance
beyond 1983 (Ibid.).

With the movement of Ni'ihauan families between Ni'ihau and Kaua'i as
fluid today as it was in the 1970s, one of the places where the federal
dollars involved in this Program has reaped great benefits is on Kaua'i at the
Waimea Canyon School which transient Ni'ihau students frequently attend. Here
two "teachers' aides/interpreters" assist the regular staff in instructing
Ni'ihauan children. The two aides are Jean Beniamina and Paul Williams (SB
1982f). What generally occurs is that during the morning session the
Ni'1ihauan children are tutored by Beniamina and Williams in the English
language, mathematics and social science. In the afternoon, they attend

classes with the regular Waimea Canyon students (Ibid.).
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Through the patient instruction of Beniamina and Williams, the Ni'ihau
students are gradually breaking down the language barrier. According to
Williams, the Ni'ihauan students do not have much trouble learning English.
Wherevthey stumble, he says, is grasping concepts and the significance of some
historical events. "They learn to adapt and their learning attitude is
phenomenal ... They persevere where a regular student might give up" (Ibid.).

As far as the parents' reaction to this Program, the School's Principal,
Jacqueline Carpentier, says that it is very supportive. A great deal of trust
and support is derived from the belief that the " ... program ... provides

(the students) a cultural transition" (Ibid.).

| | The Board of Education Visits Ni'ihau

While DOE representatives are permitted to visit the island fairly
regularly through "mutual agreement' with the Robinsons (Informant #4),
members of the Board of Education have been accommodated less frequently.
While ﬁo specific reason could be found for this, it is suggested that since
the Board was comprised of elected officials whose future employment rested on
how well they enforce State education laws and on how well they publicized how
.we11 they accomplished this, the Robinsons may have felt more comfortable with
a less "visible" group. For certain, the Robinsons became upset with the
Board when one of its members wrote an article about the island after the
first official BOE visit there in 1967. Not much was documented about the
Board's evaluation during that visit. However, the Robinsons' displeasure was
most evident in that the next time the BOE was permitted to visit Ni'ihau was
nine years later in 1976, even though they asked quite frequently (Pennebacker
1982). During that subsequent visit, the members were reminded by the owners
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that they would prefer not to have them speaking publicly or writing articles
about their experiences (ADV 1976). While this may seem like an unreasonable
request since the BOE is a government organization, paid by State tax
revenues, the warning was obviously effective as all members refused to be
quoted when interviewed by the media upon their return (Ibid.). They did file
an official report which, in summary, indicated that they "saw no real
problems, no real needs ... (and that) Education was alive and well on
Ni'ihau" (Ibid.).

It took another six years for the BOE to gain access to Ni'ihau (May
1982). That made a total of only three official BOE inspections in 15 years.
This has always been a bone of contention between the Board and the owners
(Pennebacker 1982).

One of the interesting features of the 1982 visit was the contrasting
perceptions by the visiting BOE members. This was particularly true of their
assessment of the Ni'ihau School, and it appears that their observations were
greatly shaped by their preconceptions and own personal values. Perhaps
reminiscent of the 1946 Senate Committee attitude, one member, Mr. John
Pennebacker, seemed bent on attacking the "quality" of education and little
could be said or done to make him see any positive aspects of education on the
island.6 He claimed that changes were required in order that the

.+« kids are given the opportunity to have a quality
education like any other kid in the State. Right now ...
they're being deprived of a quality education because of
the restrictions that are being placed on them by the
Robinson family. They're not getting everything they need
««« (Pennebacker 1982).

The restrictions to which Mr. Pennebacker was referring included the

belief that the Robinsons
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.+« Will not allow the DOE to come in and modernize or
update the facilities; they will not assist the DOE in
getting quality teachers on the island (Ibid.).

Contrastingly, another BOE member stated that relevancy of education
rather than quality should be given priority on Ni'ihau. This attitude,
naturally, caused this Board member to view what he saw on Ni'ihau quite
differently than Pennebacker. This official is of the opinion that the key to
education on Ni'ihau is to "make it work" (Informant #7). The needs of the
Ni'ihauans are different, as he sees it, and therefore the contribution of
education to the welfare of the individual and the community there is a far
cry from what is expected in other areas. ‘

Stil1 another BOE visitor stated simply "If you're going to live there,
the education (they are presently receiving) is adequate" (Informant #6).

While they may hold many contrasting views, the 1982 Board members who
visited Ni'ihau did relate experiences similar to those of past visitors, such
as_the shyness of the children. They claimed, also, that it was difficult to
acfua11y assess education because their time bn the island was quite limited,
and much of that was occupied with other discussions, welcoming ceremonies,
tours, and so on.

The BOE members departed Ni'ihau with mixed emotions and varying
opinions. Most do. They, however, are charged with administering one of the
~ most important State responsibilities—the education of the young. On
Ni'ihau, they see an immense gap between it and the rest of the State. Most
BOE members do admit that they would prefer to see the educational system on
Ni'ihau upgraded although some qualify the statement by saying the upgrading

should and could not be done on a scale comparable to other islands.’
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The Present and Future of Education on Ni'ihau

From its meager beginning as a virtually unsupervised, sing]e—roqm.
four—grade, one-teacher, country school, Ni'ihau's only educational
institution has evolved into a regularly-inspected, three--buﬂding.8
eight-grade, three-teacher, country school with assorted audiovisual equipment
and a State-funded Tunch program.

The official 1981-82 DOE School Register Tisted forty-five students

attending the Ni'ihau School. Instruction is still headed by the
State—certified Mrs. Keale, who is assisted by two non-certified instructors,
Blossom Kanahele and Abigail Shintani (SB 1982a), who are the successors of
Mrs. Niau and Mr. Pahulehua. The State contends that it would like tb see the
teaching assistants become accredited, but claims that one certified teacher
meets the minimum standards? for the Ni'ihau School (Informant #7). While
there is a possibility that the assistants or someone else from Ni'ihau may
also in the future attain certification, it seems more likely that if Ni'ihau
will ever exceed the minimum teaching standards and thereby "improve" the
education, the Robinsons will need to rescind their order that only Ni'ihauans
can teach there (Nakashima 1982).

In the tradition of its early missionary days when religious instruction
took precedence over all else, the church, the community, and the school are
inseparably entwined on Ni'ihau. The school buildings are located next to the
village church and evidence of the effect of the latter on the former is
unmistakable as one scans the classroom walls.

»as Yyou can tell the influence that the Church has on the
school when you first walk in. There's a sign saying
'Pule' which means prayer; it's all around. There's all
different types of prayers all around the walls (of the

school), all in Hawaiian (Pennebacker 1982; Informants #6
and #7).

]
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So, as controversies rage throughout the country on the issue of prayer in
public schools, Ni'ihau remains unconcerned and so, it seems, do the DOE
evaluators who probably feel that another rock of the boat may mean it sinks.

Whether Ni'ihau students today attend classes until they either graduate
high school or reach the age of eighteen (as the State law requires) is still
debatable. From interviews conducted during the course of this research, no
one is absolutely sure. According to one source, Ni'ihauans may remain on the
island for further instruction past eighth grade even though there 1is no
established high school (Informant #3). This was corroborated by a Board of
Education member who recently visited the island and reported that graduates
of the Ni'ihau School who opt to remain on the island take “self-taught"
courses. That is, they are given materials and they read themselves. The
teachers do devote a portion: of their time to the older students to guide them
and suggest assignment and correct them. The BOE member observed four such
students and learned that there was a requirement for these "high school
students" to be at. school from 8 a.m. to 2 p.m. A special section of the
classroom was set aside for them (Pennebacker 1982).

Those graduates of the Ni'ihau School who choose to attend high school off
island do so predominantly on Kaua'i at Waimea High School, while a few attend
Kamehameha Schools on 0'ahu. In earlier years, the Robinson family paid the
tuition and board for the Ni'ihauans at Kamehameha Schools, but this is no
longer the case (Ibid.; Informant #4). A spokesperson for the Robinson family
explained that there is skepticism and displeasure with Kamehameha Schools.
The family contends that the institution is not doing for Hawaiian children
what Bernice Pauahi Bishop intended but rather is only concerned in fostering

"Hawaiiana,” while education, per se, is being neglected (Informant #4), More
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to the point, I believe, is their charge that some students have returned from
there with an alleged drug problem. Assuming this to be the case (there is no
documented evidence, however), one can understand the Robinsons' concern for
the small community where liquor and cigarettes are virtually banned.
‘However, in defense of Kamehameha Schools, drug abuse there is probably much
less than in public schools. It is only fair to say that that institution
cannot be singled out as a predominant source of the abuses.

Enroliment records for Ni'ihau students at Kamehameha Schools for the last

two decades appear as Table II, below:

TABLE II

NI'IHAU STUDENT ENROLLMENT AT THE KAMEHAMEHA SCHOOLS

1960-62: 0 68-69: 1 716~77: 1
61-62: 2 69-70: 1 77-78: 1
62-63: 4 70-71: 2 78-79: 0
63-64: 4 Nn-72: 2 79-80: 1
64-65: 3 72-73: 2 80-81: 1
65-66: 2 13-74: 4 81-82: 0
66-67: 3 74-75: 4 82-83: 1
67-68: 2 75-76: 1

(Kamehameha Schools 1982)

Most recently, on the opening day of the 1982-83 school year, the State
Superintendent of Schools, Donnis Thompson, made an unprecedented visit to
Ni'ihau to officially open the new school year. Thompson came away from her
first visit ever to Ni'ihau saying that, while it was difficult to assess the
situation in only a four-hour visit (which certainly sounds familiar), she
felt that there was "a tremendous need to upgrade educational experiences of

the students attending Niihau School" (SB 1982c). After seeing third graders
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only practicing their Ks while learning the alphabet, she commented: "I did
not see ... much teaching going on. I saw a lot of sitting, I don't think
their educational needs are being totally satisfied," which is, again, a very
familiar complaint (SB 1982b). Some of Thompson's other remarks were reported

to be

If we put (educational) TV over there (as suggested by a
former BOE visitor) it will just be an opportunity for
students to sit and watch TV (Ibid.; SB 1982c). :

We can't just leave it (the school situation) alone saying
the island belongs to someone else (SB 1982c).

I just think we're going to have to come up with some
avenues and options to challenge those students (Ibid.).

To accomplish the latter, Thompson asked Kaua'i District Superintendent
Nakashima to forward some recommendations. It may not have been what Thompson
expected but Nakashima's response put into perspective education on Ni'ihau:

When the students there look at textbooks, it's a different
world to them. Niihau is more similar to plantation life
in Hawaii 50 years ago than any other community today,' he
said.

So you just can't judge the school system on Niihau by the
same standards you would any other in the state, Nakashima
said.

Nakashima, who visits the island twice a year, said
officials have been aware of the need for improvement at
the school but there are problems that have hampered them
and need to be considered in writing his proposal,

A major one is that the inaccessibility of the privately
owned island makes it difficult to communicate with the

teachers regularly and to provide services and materials
that other schools can easily get.

And because many students speak Hawaiian better than they
speak English, the teachers, who have to be bilingual, need
to teach some lessons in both languages.

Nakashima said the teachers need to be trained to handle
these unique situations and may have to leave the island,
one at a time, to get special instruction.
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Nakashima said just because students may not be learning
the same things as other Hawaii students doesn't mean they
are being neglected.

'Some of these children will want to stay on Ni'ihau (for
the rest of their lives). In order to survive on Niihau
you don't need to know English.

On the other hand, he said, others will want to leave
Niihau so they need to have an adequate preparation.

Nakashima said that while 'it calls for some unique ways to
handle the situation,' he thinks the students there are
adequately served considering the circumstances (SB 1982b).

What effect this response had on Thompson's initial attitude is unknown.
However, when the question about the future of education on Ni'ihau was later
asked of a DOE spokesperson, a very sensible and less vitriolic approach was
outlined. The intent is to take "a poll ... of the Ni'ihauan parents to see
what their desires are" (Herman 1982). The DOE acknowledges that Ni'ihauan
children who remain on the island do not have the same educational needs as
children on other islands (Ibid.; Informant #11). What the DOE hopes to do
then is to bring the Ni'ihau School into conformity with the State's

educational goals but within the limits dictated by the environment.
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NOTES

Mrs. Hanaike is the same lady figured in the Battle of Ni'ihau. She was
terrorized by the Japanese pilot during the episode (see Appendix B).

It is difficult to describe it as being an improvement although it does
seem quite reasonable to western minds to assume that reading and writing
enhancement for children can only be interpreted as a step forward.
After all, in this day and age it is considered required skills to be
able to balance one's checkbook, read and understand a newspaper, and
write one's congressional representative. If every child was not
provided with these basic necessities of life, something was askew. It
mattered not whether the child was from the backwoods of the Ozarks, the
streets of Harlem, the swamps of the Bajou, the reservations of the
southwest, the frozen wastelands of Alaska, or the kiawe-covered
ranchlands of isolated Ni'ihau.

Interestingly, the 1959 DPI report noted that the Ni'ihau School was not
the smallest in the State. Six others actually had Tower enrollments
with Maui's Kipahulu School taking "Tow" honors with thirteen students
and a single teacher (SB 1959a).

A1l eighteen-year-old Ni'ihauan men today conform with required
registration laws. One source believed that two Ni'ihauan men were
currently serving in the Armed Forces (Informant #4).

Keale's teaching method was uniquely Ni'ihauan:

I teach the way I learned—by singing ... I learned my
Hawaiian through the repetition of singing church songs.
First, I learned the words to sing, then I learned what
they meant, and finally I learned to read the printed
words. That's the way I teach (ADV 1962b).

The number of Ni'ihau children attending the Ni'ihau School for two
successive academic years reflect the fluctuation in enroliment. In
1968-69 it was eighty-five, and in 1969-70 it was sixty. Also, during the
1969-70 academic year, records show twenty—four Ni'ihau students enrolled
in three Kaua'i schools (SB 1969b).

This is a personal assessment based on an interview with the Board members
in 1982 during which he was very candid in his observations and views.

On most occasions, BOE visitors are deluged with requests by school
administrators for supplies, money, equipment, and so on. The 1982 BOE
visitors to Ni'ihau did agree on one point, and that was their collective
surprise when the children and teachers on the island made only one
request: a pump to inflate basketballs and footballs (SB 1982a). What
particularly pleased the BOE officials was the teacher's report that there
were no disciplinary problems (Ibid.).
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One of the buildings is being used as a combination library and cafeteria
(Pennebacker 1982). Also, there was a report that the foundation for a
fourth building had been poured for some time but as yet remains only
that, a foundation (Nakashima 1982). A spokesperson for the Robinsons
denied that any such foundation exists (Informant #4).

The question frequently arises whether there are sufficient qualified
teachers for the number of Ni'ihau students. There is not an exact
formula that the State uses to arrive at a teacher-student ratio. What is
often confused with this is a contractual agreement with the teachers'
union which 1imits the number of students a teacher should be required to
instruct.
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CHAPTER XI

HEALTH PROGRAMS AND PRACTICES

Aftermath of the 1946 Territorial Senate Visit

The Robinsons have always maintained that they have provided adequate
health care for the residents of Ni'ihau through the services of dbctors on
Kaua'i (Informant #4). These physicians either treated Ni'ihauans in their
offices or visited Ni'ihau periodically to conduct routine check-ups there.
It is unknown whether these doctors hired by the Robinsons were, in fact,
their own family physicians.

One such doctor was Burt 0. Wade who the Robinsons hired and transported
to Ni'ihau at least twice annually during the period 1934-41. On the average,
according to Dr. Wade, the Ni'ihauans were maintaining good health and there
was very little serious or peculiar medical problems. After 1941, the war
effort demanded more of Dr. Wade's time and energy, and his visits to Ni'ihau
became more infrequent. The Robinsons then contracted the services of
Dr. J. M. Kuhns (now deceased) who made monthly visits after the war.

When the Senate Committee arrived in 1946, they did not find wanton health
neglect. Rather, Ni'ihau was similar to many other rural areas in the United
States during and just after the war. It needed general improvements in many
areas but certainly could not be classified as a place ridden with death and
disease as some reports indicated. Recalling Senator Brown's final report,
the only recommendation regarding health or health services was that land be
acquired for the establishment of a hospital and dispensary (see Part ONE,
Chapter II).
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What led the senators to conclude that the Ni'ihauans were not being
properly cared for was probably the responses they received from the islanders
when questioned about medical practices. The Ni'ihauans must have shown a
deep mistrust of modern techniques because Senator Brown was quick to solicit
the assistance of Hawai'i's civic clubs in teaching Ni'ihauans that modern
medical procedures were "not the work of the devil" (ADV 1946d).

The senators said the health program on Ni'ihau was in a sorry state and
charged there was evidence "of a tuberculosis menace ... and a high mortality
rate" (Ibid.). Not much evidence was introduced to support this, however,
there may have been some legitimacy to the second charge. Statistics for the
period 193645 indicate that twenty-four deaths had occurred on the island
during that time with infants under one year accounting for 54.2 percent of
them (ADV 1946f). Aylmer Robinson's counter to these figures was included in
a letter he sent to the former Senator Charles Rice which read:

The vital statistics used for the Senate Committee,,
although based on an 11-year period which appears so
selected to include one year of more than average number of
deaths (and which on the more normal period of a decade
would be much more favorable) shows that the excess of
births over deaths and the rate of population increase in

Niihau is the highest in the territory (Senate Journal
1948:632).

The dust had not settled on these charges when a doctor on Kaua'i claimed
a Ni'ihauan child, who died as a result of injuries suffered by what the

Honolulu Star Bulletin reported as an accidental explosion from a "shell" or

grenade, may have been saved if the wounds were treated quickly and
professionally (SB 1946F). The six hours it took to get the child to Kaua'i
may have been the difference. The tragedy occurred within thirty days of the

senatorial visit.
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The Senate called the President of the Territorial Board of Health,

Dr. Charles L. Wilbar, Jr., to testify on the Committee's findings. Although
he concurred with Drs. Wade and Kuhns that health conditions on Ni'ihau were
in compliance with minimum Territorial standards, he did say that "he would be
grateful if a spotlight were thrown on the island." By this he wanted to
stress that things could be improved on the island if the health laws were
interpreted by the letter rather than the intent (SB 1946b).

At the time, he did not announce any immediate plans to visit Ni'ihau.
However, shortly after the DPI visited the island in May 1947 in the aftermath
of the Senate accusations, Dr. Wilbar scheduled his sojourn. He spent
June 13, 1947 on the island and was accompanied by Dr. Kuhns (SB 1847g).

Upon his return, Dr, Wilbar indicated there were "no serious health
problems" on Ni'ihau. He did cite a few areas, however, that needed
corrective action. He claimed that the diet of all Ni'ijhauans needed
improvement and that a fly problem caused by outdoor toilets and a mosquito
problem caused by the